Evaluation of nutritional status and physical performance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Matković, Zinka

Doctoral thesis / Disertacija

2018

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, School of Medicine / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Medicinski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:105:353356

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-02-06



Repository / Repozitorij:

Dr Med - University of Zagreb School of Medicine Digital Repository





UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Zinka Matković

Evaluation of nutritional status and physical performance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

DISSERTATION



Zagreb, 2018.

UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Zinka Matković

Evaluation of nutritional status and physical performance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

DISSERTATION

Zagreb, 2018.

This dissertation was made at the Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Pulmonary Medicine, Dubrava University Hospital, Zagreb, Croatia

Mentors:

Professor Neven Tudorić, MD, PhD University of Zagreb, School of Medicine; Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Pulmonary Medicine, Dubrava University Hospital, Zagreb, Croatia

Marc Miravitlles, MD, PhD Pneumology Department, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron, Barcelona, Spain

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank:

- Mentors, Professor Neven Tudorić, MD, PhD and Marc Miravitlles, MD, PhD for their professional help and support in my PhD research project and preparation of this dissertation
- Cristina Esquinas Lopez, PhD for the statistical analysis
- Danijel Cvetko, MD for the ultrasonic measurement of rectus femoris muscle
- Assistant Professor Dario Rahelić, MD, PhD for his professional help in the endocrine aspects of this dissertation
- Professor Željko Romić, MA in medical biochemistry, PhD, Marko Žarak, MA in medical biochemistry, and the medical staff at the Department of Laboratory Diagnostics, Dubrava University Hospital for their help in laboratory diagnostics
- Medical staff at the Department of Pulmonary Medicine and the Department of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolic Disorders, Dubrava University Hospital, who have helped in various ways in the implementation of this research project
- Patients who agreed to participate in this research project, especially because for some of them it was quite demanding to carry out all protocol-related activities due to the severity of the disease
- And most importantly, I thank my family and friends for their love, support and patience

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	1
1.1. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	1
1.1.1. Risk factors	1
1.1.2. Pathogenesis and pathophysiology	2
1.1.3. Symptoms	3
1.1.4. Diagnosis and severity assessment	4
1.1.4.1. Spirometric criteria	4
1.1.4.2. Assessment of symptoms severity	5
1.1.4.3. COPD exacerbations - assessment of risk	7
1.1.4.4. Additional investigations	8
1.1.5. Classification of COPD	9
1.1.6. Treatment of COPD	14
1.1.7. Comorbidities and extrapulmonary manifestations of COPD	18
1.2. Evaluation of nutritional status and body composition in COPD	19
1.3. Evaluation of physical performance in COPD	24
1.4. Background for the presented research	28
2. HYPOTHESIS	32
3. AIMS AND PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH	33
4. MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY	34
4.1. Subjects	34
4.2. Study design	35
4.2.1. Demographic and clinical data	35
4.2.2. Pulmonary function tests	36
4.2.3. Nutritional assessment	36
4.2.4. Physical performance and muscle function assessment	37
4.3. Statistical analysis	39
5. RESULTS	40
5.1. Patients' characteristics	40
5.2. Physical performance of the study population	44
5.3. Nutritional status of the study population	45
5.4. Comparison of patients with poor and normal exercise capacity	47
5.5. Comparison of patients with slow and normal gait speed	52
5.6. Comparison of patients with poor and normal physical activity	55

5.7. Evaluation of factors associated with malnutrition in patients with COPD	60
5.8. Evaluation of physical performance in patients with different forms of nutritional	
abnormality	62
5.9. Association between physical activity and severity of COPD	63
5.10. Correlation between physical activity and simple tests of muscle function/mass	67
5.11. Association between physical activity, body composition and health-related quality of life	70
5.12. Association between physical activity, body composition and anxiety/depression	72
6. DISCUSSION	73
6.1. Discussion regarding the general aim of the research	73
6.2. Discussion regarding the specific aims of the research	76
6.2.1. Factors associated with malnutrition in patients with COPD	76
6.2.2. Physical performance in patients with different forms of nutritional abnormality	78
6.2.3. Association between physical activity and severity of COPD	79
6.2.4. Correlation between physical activity and simple tests of muscle function/mass	80
6.2.5. Association between physical activity, body composition and health-related quality	
of life	. 82
$6.2.6.$ Association between physical activity, body composition and anxiety/depression \dots	82
6.3. Study limitations	83
7. CONCLUSIONS	85
8. ABSTRACT	88
9. SAŽETAK	89
10. LIST OF REFERENCES	90
11. CURRICULUM VITAE	108
11.1. List of publications by Zinka Matković	109

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AMA	arm muscle area			
ATS	American Thoracic Society			
AUC	area under the curve			
BIA	bioelectric impedance analysis			
BMI	body mass index			
BMC	bone mineral content			
BMD	oone mineral density			
BODE	B: body mass index; O: airflow obstruction; D: dyspnoea; E: exercise capacity			
	(explained at p. 9)			
CAT	COPD Assessment Test			
CC	calf circumference			
cm	centimetre			
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease			
CPAP	continuous positive airway pressure			
СТ	computed tomography			
DEXA	dual energy X-ray absorptiometry			
DLCO	diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide			
DLCO/VA	diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume			
EQ-5D-5L	EuroQol questionnaire			
ERS	European Respiratory Society			
FEV_1	forced expiratory volume in one second			
FEV ₁ /FVC	ratio of forced expiratory volume in one second to forced vital capacity			
FFM	fat-free mass			
FFMI	fat-free mass index			
FM	fat mass			
FMI	fat mass index			
FVC	forced vital capacity			
GOLD	Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease			
HADS	Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale			
hsCRP	high-sensitivity C-reactive protein			
ICS	inhaled corticosteroids			

keV	kiloelectron volt			
kg	kilogram			
kg/m ²	kilogram per square meter			
kPa	kilopascal			
LABA	long-acting beta2-agonists			
LAMA	ong-acting muscarinic antagonists			
LM	lean soft tissue mass			
LMI	lean mass index			
LTOT	long-term oxygen therapy			
m	metre			
MAMC	mid-arm muscle circumference			
4MGS	4-metre gait speed			
ml	millilitre			
μΜ	micromolar (micromoles per litre)			
mmHg	millimetre of mercury			
mMRC	modified Medical Research Council dyspnoea scale			
MNA	Mini Nutritional Assessment			
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging			
m/s	metre per second			
MUAC	mid-upper arm circumference			
6MWD	6-minute walk distance			
6MWT	6-minute walk test			
NIV	non-invasive ventilation			
nmol/L	nanomoles per litre			
pO_2	partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood			
pCO ₂	partial pressure of carbon-dioxide in arterial blood			
pred.	predicted			
RF _{CSA}	rectus femoris cross-sectional area			
RV	residual volume			
RV/TLC	ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity			
S	seconds			
SABA	short-acting beta2-agonists			
SAMA	short-acting muscarinic antagonists			
SAM	StepWatch Activity Monitor [®]			

$SatO_2$	arterial oxygen saturation
SD	standard deviation
SpO ₂	peripheral capillary oxygen saturation
TLC	total lung capacity
TSF	triceps skin fold
VAS	visual analogue scale
VC	vital capacity
WHO	World Health Organization

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a chronic inflammatory lung disorder characterised by permanent, progressive, and poorly reversible airflow limitation leading to chronic respiratory symptoms - cough, expectoration and dyspnoea. Together with asthma COPD is the most common chronic respiratory disease [1]. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) COPD was the fourth leading cause of death in 2004, after ischaemic heart disease, cerebrovascular disease and lower respiratory infections, and it was estimated that by 2030 it will become the third leading cause of death worldwide [2]. With around 384 million patients in the world, global prevalence of 11.7% in adult population and around three million deaths annually, COPD is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide and represents a significant socioeconomic burden [1, 3, 4]. Additionally, the global prevalence and burden of COPD are projected to increase in the coming decades due to the continued high exposure to risk factors, especially tobacco smoking, and the ageing of the world's population [5].

1.1.1. Risk factors

COPD results from a complex interaction between long-term cumulative exposure to noxious gases and particles, combined with different host factors. Cigarette smoking is the leading environmental risk factor for COPD, especially in high- and middle-income countries, and is also the most studied. Cigarette smokers have a higher prevalence of respiratory symptoms, accelerated lung function decline and a greater COPD mortality rate than non-smokers [6]. Other types of tobacco (e.g. pipe, cigar, water pipe) and marijuana smoking, as well as passive exposure to cigarette smoke also represent risk factors for COPD [7, 8, 9].

Occupational exposure to organic and inorganic dusts, chemicals and fumes is associated with airflow limitation and respiratory symptoms, but is often under-appreciated as a risk factor for COPD [10]. In low-income countries exposure to indoor air pollution as a result of the broad use of coal and biomass fuels for cooking, heating and other household needs is an important

risk factor for COPD, especially for non-smoking women [11]. Outdoor air pollution in urban and industrial areas is recognised as harmful to individuals with pre-existing lung disease, but its role in the development of COPD is less clear.

Genetics may play a role in the susceptibility to COPD in individuals with environmental exposures. The best documented genetic risk factor is a severe hereditary deficiency of alpha-1 antitrypsin, a major circulating inhibitor of serine proteases [12]. Other host factors that may predispose to the development of COPD include frequent and/or severe lower respiratory infections during childhood [13], low birth weight [14], asthma and airway hyper-responsiveness [15], chronic bronchitis with mucus hypersecretion [16], lower socioeconomic status [17], and HIV infection [18].

Age is often considered a risk factor for COPD, although it is not clear whether age really represents an independent risk factor or it actually reflects the cumulative exposures to environmental factors throughout one's life [19]. COPD prevalence and mortality were higher in men for a long time, but recent studies from developed countries report an equal prevalence of COPD in men and women, probably reflecting the increase in cigarette smoking among women in the last decades [20].

1.1.2. Pathogenesis and pathophysiology

Prolonged or repeated inhalation of toxic particles and gases in a genetically predisposed individual leads to the development of chronic inflammation in the lungs. Increased numbers of macrophages, activated neutrophils, and different subtypes of lymphocytes can be found in peripheral airways, lung parenchyma, and the pulmonary vessels of patients with COPD [21]. In some patients who demonstrate clinical overlap with asthma there may also be increased numbers of eosinophils in the airways. All these inflammatory cells, together with epithelial cells are involved in the production and release of multiple inflammatory mediators (e.g. proinflammatory cytokines, chemoattractants, growth factors), oxidants and different types of proteinases (e.g. elastase, cathepsin G, proteinase 3, matrix metalloproteinase) leading to various aspects of tissue damage [22]. Oxidative stress and protease-antiprotease imbalance may have a key role in driving lung inflammation and parenchymal tissue destruction resulting in the development of emphysema and the reduction of gas-exchanging surface of the lung [23]. On the other hand, excessive defence and repair mechanisms result in lung

remodelling, inflammatory and/or fibrous thickening and narrowing of small bronchioles leading to progressive airflow limitation and hyperinflation [24].

Clinically these pathological and pathophysiological changes manifest as exertional dyspnoea, reduced exercise tolerance, the development of hypoxemia and hypercapnia. Mucus hypersecretion with chronic productive cough is present in patients with chronic bronchitis without airflow limitation as well as a substantial number of COPD patients who have chronic bronchitis phenotype, and is caused by the increased number of goblet cells and hypertrophy of the submucosal glands in the airways as a result of chronic irritation by the noxious agents, additionally stimulated by several inflammatory mediators [16].

Interestingly, lung inflammation with its deleterious consequences persists even after smoking cessation, possibly through the involvement of autoantigens and lung microbiome [25]. The intensity of lung inflammation is further enhanced during COPD exacerbations triggered by respiratory infections and environmental factors, leading to reduced expiratory flow, increased hyperinflation, and worsening of respiratory symptoms [26]. Furthermore, pulmonary hypertension may develop late in the course of COPD as a result of hypoxic vasoconstriction, structural changes of the small pulmonary arteries, as well as the loss of the pulmonary capillary bed in emphysema, and may additionally worsen respiratory symptoms [27].

1.1.3. Symptoms

Chronic and progressive dyspnoea is the most common symptom of COPD, and a major cause of a disability [28]. Patients with severe and very severe COPD may experience dyspnoea even at rest or on minimal exertion. Dyspnoea is sometimes accompanied by wheezing and chest tightness.

Chronic cough is often the first symptom of COPD, and may be productive or unproductive. Regular production of sputum for three or more months in two consecutive years in the absence of any other condition that may explain it is the seminal definition of chronic bronchitis, which may precede the development of airflow limitation [29]. Patients producing large volume of sputum may have underlying bronchiectasis, and those with persistently purulent sputum, even when clinically stable, may have chronic bronchial infection [30]. In advanced stages of COPD additional extrapulmonary manifestations of the disease can be expected including fatigue, weight loss, skeletal muscle wasting and dysfunction, symptoms of depression and anxiety [31, 32]. Cardiovascular complication of COPD is cor pulmonale that may lead to right-sided heart failure manifesting with hepatomegaly, peripheral oedema and ascites.

1.1.4. Diagnosis and severity assessment

1.1.4.1. Spirometric criteria

COPD should be considered and post-bronchodilator spirometry should be performed in any patient who has dyspnoea, chronic cough or sputum production, and/or a history of exposure to risk factors [5]. While the screening spirometry in the general population is not recommended, performing spirometry in individuals with chronic respiratory symptoms and/or risk factors is indicated [5].

Spirometry should be performed after the administration of an adequate dose of a short-acting inhaled bronchodilator (10-15 minutes after inhalation of 400 mcg of salbutamol or 30-45 minutes after 160 mcg of ipratropium), and the measured parameters forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) and forced vital capacity (FVC) should be compared with the predicted values for height, age, sex, and race [33]. A post-bronchodilator ratio of FEV₁/FVC < 0.70 confirms the presence of persistent airflow limitation, and is required to establish the diagnosis of COPD in a person with symptoms consistent with COPD and/or risk factors [5].

The classification of the severity of airflow limitation according to the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) is presented in **Table 1** [5].

Besides the presence and severity of the spirometric abnormalities, COPD assessment should consider patient's symptoms, exacerbation history and future risk, and the presence of comorbidities [5].

Table 1. Classification of airflow limitation severity in COPD based on post-bronchodilator spirometry with $FEV_1/FVC < 0.70$ [5].

GOLD 1	Mild	$FEV_1 \ge 80\%$ predicted	
GOLD 2	Moderate	$50\% \le \text{FEV}_1 < 80\%$ predicted	
GOLD 3 Severe		$30\% \le \text{FEV}_1 < 50\%$ predicted	
GOLD 4 Very severe		FEV ₁ < 30% predicted	

Abbreviations: COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; GOLD: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC: forced vital capacity.

1.1.4.2. Assessment of symptoms severity

Breathlessness is a very common symptom in patients with COPD, and together with airflow limitation is a predictor of mortality [34]. A simple, useful, and widely used measure of breathlessness is the modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) dyspnoea scale (grades 0-4) [35, 36], which is depicted in **Table 2**.

mMRC grade 0	I only get breathless with strenuous exercise.		
mMRC grade 1	I get short of breath when hurrying on the level or walking up a slight hill.		
mMRC grade 2	I walk slower than people of the same age on the level because of breathlessness, or I have to stop for breath when walking at my own pace on the level.		
mMRC grade 3	I stop for breath after walking about 100 meters or after a few minutes on the level.		
mMRC grade 4	I am too breathless to leave the house or I am breathless when dressing or undressing.		

Table 2. Modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) dyspnoea scale [35].

However, breathlessness is only one of the symptoms in COPD, which is a far more complex disease with respiratory and extrapulmonary manifestations. Due to the need for a more complete assessment of respiratory symptoms in COPD and their impact on activities of daily

living several comprehensive, disease-specific health status questionnaires were developed, one of them being the COPD Assessment Test (CATTM) (COPD Assessment Test and the CAT logo are trademarks of the GlaxoSmithKline group of companies). This is an 8-item measure of health status impairment in COPD with a score that ranges from 0-40 (**Figure 1**). The CATTM has been extensively used as a research method, but it is also suitable for the assessment of symptom burden in COPD patients in everyday clinical practice [37].

OPD2 Take the COPD A	ssossmont Test (CAT)
or D: Take the COPD A	issessment lest (CAI)
u and your nearthcare protessional mea on your wellbeing and daily life. Your an help improve the management of your CO	swers, and test score, can be used by you PD and get the greatest benefit from treatn
ark (X) in the box that best describes you o	currently. Be sure to only select one respon
0000345	I am very sad
CACCCC	sco
012345) I cough all the time
000000	My chest is completely
	full of phlegm (mucus)
012345	My chest feels very tight
000396	When I walk up a hill or one flight of stairs I am
000000	very breathless
012345	I am very limited doing activities at home
012345	I am not at all confident leaving my home because
000000	of my lung condition
012345	I don't sleep soundly because of my lung condition
012345) I have no energy at all
	OPD? Take the COPD A ou and your healthcare professional meason your wellbeing and daily life. Your an help improve the management of your CO ank (X) in the box that best describes you of a state of the correct of the corr

Figure 1. COPD Assessment Test (CATTM) [37].

1.1.4.3. COPD exacerbations - assessment of risk

COPD exacerbations are very heterogeneous events in terms of aetiology and clinical presentation. The European Respiratory Society (ERS) and the American Thoracic Society (ATS) task force defined COPD exacerbation as an increase in patient's baseline dyspnoea, cough, and/or sputum production that usually requires a change in therapy [38]. Another proposed definition of COPD exacerbation is sustained worsening of the patient's condition from the stable state and beyond normal day-to-day variations that is acute in onset and may warrant additional treatment in a patient with underlying COPD [39].

Published data suggest that approximately 70% of exacerbations are caused by respiratory infections, namely infections with aerobic bacteria (40–60%), respiratory viruses (about 30%), and atypical bacteria (5–10%) [40, 41]. Polymicrobial aetiology was demonstrated in as much as 33% of exacerbations, being particularly important in the most severe cases [26]. Environmental factors, including low temperature and air pollution are considered causative for approximately 10% of exacerbations, depending on season and geographical settings [42]. Multifactor aetiology is not uncommon, e.g. a combination of infective and environmental factors or already mentioned polymicrobial infections [26]. Furthermore, noncompliance with respiratory medication and/or abrupt withdrawal of therapy is responsible for a certain proportion of exacerbations [43]. However, in some cases the aetiology remains unknown.

When referring to a severity of COPD exacerbations, the most popular classification is based on healthcare utilisation. According to that classification "mild" exacerbations are selfmanaged by the patient at home by increasing the usual COPD medication (short acting bronchodilators and/or inhaled corticosteroids [ICS]), "moderate" exacerbations are treated with antibiotics and/or oral corticosteroids in the outpatients settings, while "severe" ones require hospitalisation or emergency room visit [44].

Exacerbations have a negative impact on patient's health-related quality of life and prognosis, they accelerate lung function decline, and severe exacerbations also bring significant mortality risk [45, 46]. Therefore it is important to assess the risk of future exacerbations in order to reduce it with an appropriate treatment strategy.

Exacerbations become more frequent and more severe as COPD progresses and FEV_1 declines, but regardless of the COPD severity the best predictor of future exacerbations is a history of previous exacerbations [47]. Frequent exacerbator phenotype is usually defined by

 \geq 2 exacerbations per year, and the main predictor of frequent exacerbator status in the following year among all grades of COPD severity is a history of frequent exacerbations in the previous year [48].

Recent studies suggest that a baseline blood eosinophil count may serve as a marker of exacerbation risk in COPD patients with a history of moderate/severe exacerbations, and may predict the usefulness of ICS in addition to bronchodilators in reducing the exacerbation rate [49]. Although the results of a post-hoc analysis of some clinical trials have suggested the beneficial effect of ICS therapy in patients with blood eosinophil level $\geq 2\%$ [49], a cut-off threshold for blood eosinophils in predicting future exacerbations risk is still to be determined.

1.1.4.4. Additional investigations

In the clinical assessment of a patient with COPD several additional investigations are frequently performed, although they are not necessary to establish a diagnosis of COPD. **Chest radiograph** (colloquially called a **chest X-ray**) may demonstrate some radiological changes associated with COPD and resulting lung hyperinflation (e.g. hyperlucency of the lungs, flattening of the diaphragm, increased retrosternal airspace and intercostal spaces), but its greatest value is in establishing the presence of other pulmonary, pleural, cardiac and skeletal diseases.

Computed tomography (CT) of the chest is not routinely recommended in the management of COPD, but it may be useful in the differential diagnosis, when concomitant pathology is suspected (e.g. bronchiectasis, lung cancer, combined pulmonary fibrosis and emphysema), as well as in the evaluation of the distribution of emphysema when lung volume reduction procedures are considered [50].

Body plethysmography with lung volumes measurement is a preferred method for the assessment of lung hyperinflation, which commonly accompanies expiratory airflow limitation in patients with COPD contributing to the severity of dyspnoea. Lung hyperinflation is characterised by the increase in end-expiratory lung volume, residual volume (RV), total lung capacity (TLC), and/or ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity (RV/TLC), and the values >120% of the predicted are considered clinically important, although these "cut-offs" remain arbitrary [51].

Diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide (DLCO) is expected to be decreased in patients with emphysema where a gas-exchanging surface of the lung is reduced. Measurement of DLCO may be particularly useful in patients with breathlessness that seems out of proportion to the degree of airflow limitation [5].

In patients with clinical signs suggestive of respiratory failure **pulse oxymetry** should be used to measure peripheral capillary oxygen saturation (SpO₂). In case of a resting stable SpO₂ \leq 92% **arterial blood gases** sampling is required in order to assess eligibility for long-term oxygen therapy (LTOT) [52]. Arterial blood gases assessment is also indicated in hospitalised patients with severe COPD exacerbations for oxygen titration during supplemental oxygen therapy, as well as in the evaluation of a need for mechanical ventilation.

Exertional dyspnoea is a common symptom in COPD that usually leads to the reduction in exercise capacity and physical activity. Since the impairment in physical performance has been recognised as a negative prognostic factor in COPD [53], **exercise testing** and **objective measurement of physical activity** may be useful in a comprehensive assessment of COPD severity. However, these are still underperformed in everyday clinical practice because their determination is time consuming, and remains largely reserved for research purposes. The exceptions are walking tests, mainly **incremental shuttle walk test** and **6-minute walk test** (**6MWT**), which are also in clinical use mostly to evaluate the effectiveness of pulmonary rehabilitation. Different methods of assessing physical performance will be discussed in more detail in section 1.3.

BODE index is a multidimensional 10-point scale that is used to predict long-term outcomes in COPD, in particular the risk of death [34]. In the calculation of BODE index four factors are evaluated: body mass index (BMI) (B); airflow obstruction (O), evaluated by the FEV₁; severity of dyspnoea (D), assessed by the mMRC dyspnoea scale; and exercise capacity (E), measured by the 6-minute walk distance (6MWD).

1.1.5. Classification of COPD

The most widely used classification of COPD is the one given by the GOLD [54], which takes into consideration patient's symptoms based on the mMRC dyspnoea scale (**Table 2**) [35] and/or the CATTM score (**Figure 1**) [37], severity of airflow limitation assessed by the spirometry (**Table 1**), and the risk of exacerbations based on previous exacerbation history.

Using these parameters patients are classified into one of the four categories – A, B, C or D (**Figure 2**), which determines a severity of the diseases, impact on patient's health status, the risk of future events (exacerbations, hospitalisations, deaths) and serves as a guide in a therapy [54].



Patient category	Characteristics	Spirometric classification	Exacerbations per year	CAT	mMRC
А	Low risk, less symptoms	GOLD 1-2	0-1	< 10	0-1
В	Low risk, more symptoms	GOLD 1-2	0-1	≥10	≥2
С	High risk, less symptoms	GOLD 3-4	$\geq 2 / \geq 1$ hosp.	< 10	0-1
D	High risk, more symptoms	GOLD 3-4	$\geq 2 / \geq 1$ hosp.	≥10	≥2

Figure 2. Classification of COPD according to the GOLD guidelines 2011-2016 [54]. **Abbreviations**: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; GOLD: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; hosp: hospitalised exacerbation; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council dyspnoea scale.

The novelty of the GOLD 2017 in comparison to the GOLD 2011-2016 is that the ABCD categorisation is now determined only by the symptoms severity and exacerbation history,

while the degree of airflow limitation (spirometric grade 1 to 4) should be presented separately (e.g. GOLD grade 3, group D) (**Figure 3**) [5]. According to the GOLD 2017 spirometry is no longer needed neither for the classification of COPD patients, nor for the initial therapeutic strategy; however, its role in the diagnosis, prognosis and follow-up is still irreplaceable [5].



Figure 3. Classification of COPD according to the GOLD guidelines 2017 [5]. **Abbreviations**: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; GOLD: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council dyspnoea scale.

However, it is now widely recognised that COPD is a very complex disease with a significant heterogeneity in clinical presentation and disease progression, and the term "phenotype" has recently become more common when referring to different clinical forms of COPD [55]. A group of international experts has defined COPD phenotypes as "those attributes of the disease that either alone or combined describe the differences between individuals with COPD regarding parameters that have clinical significance (symptoms, exacerbations,

response to therapy, progression rate of the disease, or death)" [55]. Established on the premise that the phenotypes enable the classification of patients into distinct prognostic and therapeutic subgroups, in recent years some national respiratory societies, e.g. Spanish and Czech respiratory societies, have developed guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of COPD based on phenotypes [56, 57].

Spanish guidelines propose four distinct phenotypes: (A) non-exacerbator, with emphysema or chronic bronchitis; (B) mixed COPD-asthma; (C) exacerbator with emphysema; (D) exacerbator with chronic bronchitis (**Figure 4**) [56].



Figure 4. COPD clinical phenotypes according to the Spanish guidelines [56].

The emphysema phenotype includes COPD patients with clinical / radiological / functional diagnosis of emphysema who present dyspnoea and exercise intolerance as predominant symptoms [56]. Furthermore, chronic bronchitis is defined as the presence of productive cough or expectoration for more than three months a year during more than two consecutive years [58]. The mixed COPD-asthma phenotype is characterised by the symptoms of increased variability of airflow accompanied by the incompletely reversible airflow obstruction and increased bronchodilator responsiveness [59]. For the clinical identification of mixed COPD-asthma phenotype 2 major diagnostic criteria or 1 major and 2 minor criteria should be met - **Table 3** [60]. The exacerbator phenotype includes COPD patients who appear with two or more moderate or severe exacerbations a year requiring treatment with systemic

corticosteroids and/or antibiotics, and this phenotype may coexist with the three previous phenotypes [56].

Table 3. Major and minor criteria for establishing the diagnosis of mixed COPD-asthma phenotype in COPD [60].

Major criteria

Very positive bronchodilator test (increase in $FEV_1 > 15\%$ and >400 ml) Eosinophilia in sputum Personal history of asthma

Minor criteria

High levels of total IgE Personal history of atopy Positive bronchodilator test on at least two occasions (increase of FEV₁>12% and >200 ml)

Abbreviations: FEV1: forced expiratory volume in one second; IgE: immunoglobulin E.

Similarly to Spanish guidelines, Czech COPD guidelines distinguish bronchitic phenotype, emphysematic phenotype, overlap COPD + asthma, and frequent-exacerbation phenotype, but apart from them they propose two additional phenotypes, namely pulmonary cachexia phenotype and overlap COPD + bronchiectasis [57]. Pulmonary cachexia phenotype is characterised by the decrease in body weight (BMI <21 kg/m²), and particularly in fat-free mass (FFM) (fat-free mass index [FFMI] <16 kg/m² in men, <15 kg/m² in women) [57]. Overlap COPD + bronchiectasis phenotype includes COPD patients with radiological confirmation of bronchiectasis by the high-resolution CT scan, and clinically they are recognised by the chronic purulent expectoration, lower or no smoking burden, younger age, history of prolonged/recurrent respiratory infections and episodic haemoptysis [57]. Occasionally different phenotypes may occur simultaneously in an individual patient (e.g. emphysematic phenotype and cachexia, or bronchitic phenotype with frequent exacerbations) [57].

1.1.6. Treatment of COPD

Treatment of COPD includes different pharmacologic and non-pharmacologic therapeutic interventions with the main objectives to reduce symptoms, prevent exacerbations, delay the natural progression of the disease, and to improve the health-related quality of life.

Since smoking has a deleterious effect in the development and progression of COPD, all patients who continue to smoke should be strongly encouraged to quit, and if needed, pharmacotherapy for **smoking cessation** may be included (e.g. nicotine replacement products, varenicline, bupropion) [61].

Influenza and pneumococcal vaccinations are recommended for all COPD patients as a part of general non-pharmacologic measures [5].

Inhaled bronchodilators are the mainstay of the pharmacologic treatment of COPD. By combining bronchodilators of different classes the degree of bronchodilation may increase with a lower risk of side-effects compared to increasing the dose of a single bronchodilator [62]. Short-acting inhaled bronchodilators, namely short-acting beta2-agonists, SABA (e.g. salbutamol) and short-acting muscarinic antagonists, SAMA (e.g. ipratropium) are used as symptom-relieving treatment usually on an as-needed basis, and as monotherapy they are sufficient only in oligosymptomatic patients with mild COPD [5]. Patients with moderate, severe and very severe COPD require prolonged bronchodilation, which can be achieved with long-acting muscarinic antagonists, LAMA (e.g. tiotropium, umeclidinium, aclidinium, glycopyrronium) and/or long-acting beta2-agonists, LABA (e.g. formoterol, salmeterol, indacaterol, olodaterol) [63]. When used on a regular basis long-acting inhaled bronchodilators exhibit many clinical benefits – they improve lung function (increase FEV₁), reduce resting and dynamic lung hyperinflation, alleviate dyspnoea, reduce exacerbation rate, and improve exercise tolerance, health status and quality of life [64]. However, so far there is no evidence that these drugs affect lung function decline, disease progression and mortality.

Corticosteroids are efficient anti-inflammatory drugs that have been used in COPD for a long time, but in recent years their indications have become more restricted due to potential adverse effects and the evidence of benefit only in a selected group of patients with distinct clinical phenotypes [65]. The current guidelines recommend the treatment with ICS in association with LABA for COPD patients with a history of frequent exacerbations despite appropriate treatment with long-acting bronchodilators, and for patients with features of both

asthma and COPD, i.e. athma-COPD overlap syndrome [5, 56, 57]. It has been suggested that the presence of sputum and blood eosinophilia may serve as a predictor of response to ICS in COPD [49]. ICS in a combination with LABA reduce exacerbation rate, and improve lung function and health status in selected COPD patients, though there is no evidence of survival benefit or effect on long-term FEV₁ decline [65, 66].

Systemic corticosteroids are not recommended in the treatment of stable COPD; however, a short course (≤ 14 days) of systemic corticosteroids is indicated in COPD exacerbations, preferably orally administered rather than intravenously even in hospitalised patients [67]. There is evidence to support treatment of COPD exacerbations with systemic corticosteroids in reducing the risk of early relapse, shortening recovery time and length of hospital stay, and improving lung function and symptoms [68].

Methylxanthines (e.g. theophylline, aminophylline) are non-selective phosphodiesterase inhibitors with a weak bronchodilator and anti-inflammatory activity, and some additional effects of which clinical relevance is still not clear, such as a potential to increase respiratory muscle activity and reverse corticosteroid resistance [69, 70]. Theophylline is given orally as slow-release preparations in stable COPD, and aminophylline is given intravenously in exacerbations, but their use is constantly declining because of a relatively small therapeutic effect, significant interactions with commonly used medications and frequent side effects, especially in elderly persons [69].

Roflumilast, a selective phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor is a relatively new drug with a variety of anti-inflammatory effects, and besides some improvement in lung function its main clinical benefit is a reduction of moderate and severe exacerbations [71]. As part of a combination regimen with long-acting bronchodilators, roflumilast is indicated in the treatment of patients with severe to very severe COPD (FEV₁ <50% predicted) associated with chronic bronchitis and a history of exacerbations [71].

Regarding **antibiotics** there is evidence supporting their use in COPD exacerbations with clinical signs of a bacterial infection, e.g. increased sputum purulence [72], as well as in severe exacerbations requiring invasive or noninvasive mechanical ventilation [73]. Antibiotic therapy in COPD exacerbations reduces the risk of short-term mortality and treatment failure, and increases the time between exacerbations [74]. The choice of the antibiotic should be based upon local bacterial sensitivity patterns [67].

Although there is still some controversy in the preventive antibiotic use in stable COPD, there is evidence of the effectiveness of prolonged intermittent use of some antibiotics (e.g. azithromycin, moxifloxacin) in decreasing the exacerbation rate in patients with an increased risk of exacerbations [75, 76]. However, due to potential side-effects and the development of bacterial resistance the candidates for the preventive antibiotic therapy should be strictly selected among patients with severe COPD and signs of chronic bronchial infection (e.g. chronic bronchitis phenotype with permanently purulent sputum, carriers of bronchiectasis) who experience recurrent infective exacerbations despite adequate therapy [56].

Mucolytic agents (e.g. N-acetylcysteine, carbocysteine) are recommended as additional therapy in patients with chronic bronchitis phenotype and frequent exacerbations [5, 56]. There is evidence that the treatment with mucolytics may produce a small reduction in the frequency of exacerbations and a small effect on the overall quality of life, especially in patients not receiving ICS [77].

Candidates for **alpha-1 antitrypsin augmentation therapy** are patients with severe hereditary alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency (serum levels of alpha-1 antitrypsin <11.0 μ M), established emphysema, postbronchodilator FEV₁ between 30-65% predicted or if they experience a rapid decline in lung function (Δ FEV₁>120 ml/year) [78].

Pharmacologic treatment algorithms suggested by the GOLD 2017 guidelines are presented in **Figure 5** [5].

Pulmonary rehabilitation has a central place in the non-pharmacologic treatment of COPD, and among others includes structured and supervised exercise training, education, and behavioural change, all designed to improve the physical and psychological condition of a patient [79]. It is indicated for patients who have decreased exercise tolerance, exertional dyspnoea or fatigue, and/or impairment of activities of daily living [80]. Pulmonary rehabilitation should be considered (a) at diagnosis, (b) at discharge following hospitalisation for an exacerbation, and (c) when symptoms are progressively deteriorating despite optimal pharmacologic therapy [5]. The evidence for improvement in exercise endurance, dyspnoea, functional capacity, and quality of life is stronger for pulmonary rehabilitation than for almost any other therapy in COPD [80, 81]. Despite previous evidence that pulmonary rehabilitation for an exacerbation may also reduce readmissions and mortality, more recent studies have failed to show the benefit on these outcomes [81].





LABA: long-acting beta2-agonists; LAMA: long-acting muscarinic antagonists.

Nutritional supplementation is indicated in malnourished patients with COPD based on the evidence of positive effects on weight gain, FFM, fat-mass (FM), respiratory muscle strength, exercise tolerance and the health-related quality of life [82].

In patients with severe chronic respiratory failure **LTOT** improves survival [83]. LTOT is recommended for stable COPD patients with partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood (pO₂) \leq 7.3 kPa (55 mmHg) or arterial oxygen saturation (SatO₂) \leq 88% confirmed twice over a three week period in resting condition [5]. For COPD patients with pulmonary hypertension, peripheral oedema suggesting congestive cardiac failure, or polycythemia (haematocrit > 55%) LTOT is indicated if pO₂ \leq 8.0 kPa (60 mmHg) [5].

Non-invasive ventilation (NIV) in the form of non-invasive positive pressure ventilation is the standard of care for patients hospitalised for severe COPD exacerbations with respiratory

failure [5]. It has been proven that in these patients NIV improves oxygenation and respiratory acidosis, reduces the need for intubation and invasive ventilation, decreases length of hospital stay, and reduces in-hospital complications (e.g. ventilator associated pneumonia) and mortality [84]. However, the evidence of survival benefit and lower readmission rate when using NIV at home is not as conclusive, but it may be considered in selected patients with very severe COPD and persistent daytime hypercapnia (i.e. partial pressure of carbondioxide in arterial blood (pCO₂) \geq 52 mmHg) after hospitalisation [5, 85]. On the other hand, in patients with both COPD and obstructive sleep apnoea there is strong evidence in favour of using continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) as an intervention that improves survival and reduces the risk of hospitalisation [86].

Interventional bronchoscopy and **surgery** may be considered in selected COPD patients. In patients with advanced emphysema and significant hyperinflation lung volume reduction may be achieved by the surgical methods (e.g. **lung volume reduction surgery**, **bullectomy**) or bronchoscopic methods (e.g. **placement of endobronchial valves** or **lung coils**) [87, 88]. A selection of a method depends on several factors including lung function, extent and pattern of emphysema, presence of interlobar collateral ventilation (i.e. fissure integrity), availability of a certain method, and patient and providers preferences [5].

Lung transplantation remains an option for patients with end-stage COPD without significant comorbid conditions. Criteria for the referral for lung transplantation include COPD with progressive disease course despite maximal treatment, not a candidate for endoscopic or surgical lung volume reduction, BODE index of 5 to 6, pCO₂ > 6.6 kPa (50 mmHg) and/or pO₂ < 8 kPa (60 mmHg), and FEV₁ < 25% predicted [89]. Criteria for listing include at least one of the following: BODE index \geq 7, FEV₁ < 15-20% predicted, \geq 3 severe exacerbations during the preceding year, one severe exacerbation with acute hypercapnic respiratory failure, moderate to severe pulmonary hypertension [89].

1.1.7. Comorbidities and extrapulmonary manifestations of COPD

Patients with COPD often suffer from other chronic medical conditions. Although respiratory symptoms dominate in the clinical presentation of COPD, and maximum efforts are directed toward their reduction, concomitant diseases may aggravate clinical manifestations of COPD and worsen its prognosis. Comorbidities that are most frequently reported include ischaemic

heart disease, heart failure, systemic and pulmonary hypertension, metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidaemia, osteoporosis, obstructive sleep apnoea, lung cancer, anaemia, weight loss, skeletal muscle wasting and/or dysfunction, and psychological disorders such as depression and anxiety [90, 91]. In a study by Mapel et al. [92] patients with COPD had an average of 3.7 comorbidities compared to 1.8 for the control subjects, and only 6% of COPD patients did not have any other chronic medical condition. COPD and many of reported comorbidities often share the same risk factors, the most important being tobacco smoking and ageing. However, such a high incidence of different comorbidities in COPD cannot be attributed only to the common predisposing factors, and there is increasing evidence that chronic low-grade systemic inflammation, chronic hypoxia, and sedentary lifestyle play an important role in the pathogenesis of comorbidities in patients with COPD [93]. Inflammatory response in COPD is not limited only to the lungs, but there is also a certain level of systemic inflammation, both during exacerbations and in stable periods, which in a significant number of cases may be attributed to the chronic bronchial infection [94]. Consequently, it has been suggested that a chronic systemic inflammation may be the common pathway linking COPD and comorbidities, and that in fact many comorbidities may actually be considered systemic/extrapulmonary manifestations of COPD [95].

Furthermore, some COPD medications may contribute to certain concomitant diseases, e.g. ICS increase the risk of pneumonia, and when used in high doses may predispose to cataracts and osteoporosis, bronchodilators may contribute to tachyarrhythmias, inhaled anticholinergics may predispose to glaucoma and urinary retention, while systemic corticosteroids affect different tissues and organs increasing the risk of osteoporosis, diabetes, hypertension, muscle dysfunction, and adrenal insufficiency [90].

The presence of comorbidities often worsen clinical presentation of COPD with a negative impact in terms of quality of life, exacerbations, hospitalisations and mortality [91]. Therefore, as part of the comprehensive care of patients with COPD an additional effort should be made for an early diagnose and appropriate treatment of each concomitant medical condition, which generally does not differ from the management in subjects without COPD.

1.2. Evaluation of nutritional status and body composition in COPD

One of the systemic manifestations of COPD is a change in the nutritional status, namely body weight and body composition alterations, which reflect a complex interaction between the effects of genetics, lifestyle and disease on muscle, bone and fat tissue [96]. Malnutrition arises from a combination of inflammation and a disturbed nutrient balance involving the intake of energy (calories), proteins, carbohydrates, fats, vitamins, minerals and other nutrients required to maintain the normal structure of human organs and their functioning [97, 98]. By definition the malnourished state includes both undernutrition (lack of nutrients) and overnutrition (excess of nutrients), resulting with health problems in both situations [97, 98]. However, the narrower sense of the term malnutrition refers to undernutrition, and in clinical practice it is more often used in that context.

Back in 1968, Filley et al. [99] already distinguished two contrasting types of COPD patients, i.e. the emphysematous type ("pink puffer") and the bronchial type ("blue bloater") that besides the differences in the respiratory and cardiovascular features also exhibit distinct body habitus. More recent scientific research on this topic has shown that body weight and body composition variables represent a continuous spectrum, and that nutritional abnormalities in COPD patients are predictors of outcome independent of lung function impairment [96].

The BMI, calculated as weight/height squared (kg/m²) is the most commonly used anthropometric parameter in the assessment of nutritional status in adults. The WHO suggests the following BMI classification: underweight (<18.5 kg/m²), normal weight (\geq 18.5, <25 kg/m²), overweight (\geq 25, <30 kg/m²), and obese (\geq 30 kg/m²) [100]. However, studies on COPD frequently use a BMI <20 or <21 kg/m² to define underweight, since a higher mortality was observed in COPD patients with BMI below these values [101, 102]. The cut-off BMI <21 kg/m² for underweight patients with COPD is also recommended by the ATS/ERS [103].

Body composition is more informative than BMI, but it is highly influenced by many biological factors, such as age, gender, genetics, ethnicity, dietary intake, physical activity, and the presence of disease [104]. Information on human body composition can be collected at five distinct levels of increasing complexity: atomic, molecular, cellular, tissue, and whole-body level (**Figure 6**) [105]. At the atomic level six chemical elements (oxygen, hydrogen, carbon, nitrogen, calcium, and phosphorus) account for over 98% of the body mass [105]. At the molecular level the human body is composed of water, lipids, proteins, glycogen, and minerals, while at the cellular level it can be divided into cell mass, extracellular fluids, and extracellular solids [105]. Furthermore, four main body components at the tissue level are skeletal muscles, bones, adipose tissue, and internal organs [105]. Nevertheless, in clinical practice the most widely used approach to estimate body composition is a two-compartment model of body composition, in which the body is divided into FM and FFM [104]. On a tissue

level the FFM comprises skeletal muscles, bones and internal organs, while on a molecular level it consists of water (approximately 73%), proteins (20%), minerals (7%), and a small amount of carbohydrates (mainly glycogen and glucose) [104, 106]. The lean body mass and the FFM are usually used as synonyms, while the lean soft tissue mass (LM) represents bone-free FFM. On the other hand, the main component of the FM on a tissue level is adipose tissue with reserves of a body fat, which chemically mainly consists of triglycerides. Adipose tissue can be classified as two main types: subcutaneous (adipose tissue directly underneath the skin), and internal adipose tissue, which is further subdivided into visceral (adipose tissue in bone marrow, interstitial adipose tissue between muscle fibres, and retro-orbital, paravertebral and intra-articular adipose tissue) [106].



* percent of total body weight

Figure 6. Five-level body composition model. Adapted from references 104 and 105.

In the assessment of nutritional status and body composition different methods may be applied depending on the population studied and the purpose of the investigation:

1) **Questionnaires** [107] – ESPEN, the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism, recommends several questionnaires as screening tools to detect undernourished patients: MUST (Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool), NRS-2002 (Nutritional Risk Screening), and MNA (Mini Nutritional Assessment). Methods to assess dietary intake include food frequency questionnaires, 1-7 day food records, and 24-hour dietary recalls.

2) **Anthropometry** [100, 104] – includes direct measurements of different anthropometric variables (e.g. height, weight, circumferences of the waist, hips, upper arm, forearm, thigh and calf, skinfold thickness at specific anatomic locations) followed by the calculation of more complex anthropometric parameters using specific equations. Anthropometric instruments are portable and inexpensive, procedures are non-invasive and minimal training is required.

3) Bioelectric impedance analysis (BIA) [104, 108] – it is one of the most frequently used methods for estimating body composition due to its relatively low cost, ease of use, portability, and safety (not recommended for participants with a pacemaker). It measures the impedance or resistance to a small alternating electrical current as it travels through the body's water pool. Skeletal muscles have both a large volume and low resistance owing to the high electrolyte content, while adipose tissue and bones have poor conductance properties, and consequently most of the current in a whole-body BIA measure flows through skeletal muscles. An estimation of the total body water should allow calculation of the FFM based on the assumption that all the water in the body is in the FFM, and that 73% of the FFM is water. Moreover, FM can be determined by subtracting FFM from total body mass. The disadvantage of BIA is its reference-method dependence; that is, BIA resistance measures must be mathematically transformed into the body composition component of interest using prediction equations, which are population specific. Furthermore, BIA measures are dependent on hydration status, which reduces the reliability of this method in some clinical situations (e.g. recent food/fluids consumption, recent exercise, dehydration, congestive heart failure, renal insufficiency, diuretic therapy, dialysis).

4) **Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA)** [104, 108] – this method is more exact than BIA and enables determination of three components of the human body: bone mineral content (BMC) with bone mineral density (BMD), bone-free FFM (i.e. LM), and FM in addition to

their regional distribution. The basic physical principle behind DEXA is the measurement of the transmission of a low-photon (~40 keV) and a high-photon (~80 keV) X-ray through the body. The intensity of the X-ray is attenuated when passing through the body, but the level of attenuation differs for different tissues, which enables body composition estimation based on complex mathematical equations. This method is relatively quick (≤ 15 min for the whole-body scan), non-invasive, precise, and reproducible. DEXA is considered the gold standard technique for the diagnosis of osteopenia and osteoporosis. Disadvantages include a small dose of radiation (equivalent to that received on a transcontinental flight or between 1 and 10% of a chest radiograph), and a limitation by the subject's weight and size (must fit into the scanning field).

5) **CT** and **magnetic resonance imaging** (**MRI**) [104, 108] – these are the most accurate methods available for in vivo quantification of body composition at the tissue level. CT and MRI allow for the estimation of adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, and are the only methods available for the measurement of internal organs. Routine use of these imaging techniques is limited by access and cost, so they are now mostly used in body composition research.

6) **Isotope dilution techniques** [108] – total body water can be measured by several isotope dilution techniques using water labelled with the isotope of oxygen (¹⁸O) or hydrogen (²H or ³H). Assuming that the hydration of FFM is relatively constant in healthy subjects (i.e. total body water/FFM = 0.732), measurement of total body water allows for the evaluation of FFM and FM. This method is mainly used in body composition research.

7) **Laboratory assessment** [109, 110] – includes identification of different nutrients and metabolites in biological specimens (e.g. blood, urine, saliva, hair, adipose tissue), which ideally reflect dietary exposures and nutritional status. Many nutritional biomarkers are available, however their clinical utility in the nutritional assessment may be limited due to numerous factors that affect the metabolism of each nutrient. Albumin, prealbumin, transferrin, and retinol-binding protein have been suggested as markers of protein status.

Albumin is a serum protein synthesized by the liver, it is a negative acute phase reactant, which levels decrease during the acute phase response (e.g. inflammation, infection, metabolic stress, trauma, post-operative state), and besides that its serum concentration is affected by many other factors (e.g. hydration status, liver disease, nephrotic syndrome, burns and other protein losing states, pregnancy) [110, 111]. Because of its relatively large body pool size (more than 50% is located extravascularly), and a long half-life (14-20 days), serum

albumin levels do not reflect acute changes in protein intake, but it may be considered a marker of chronic nutritional status [110].

Prealbumin is also a negative acute phase reactant, but its advantage over albumin is a shorter half-life (2-3 days) and a smaller body pool, so it is expected to respond more rapidly to changes in nutrient intake [110].

Transferrin is involved in iron transport, and its levels increase in iron deficiency, which limits its usefulness in protein status assessment [110].

Retinol-binding protein forms retinol-circulating complex together with prealbumin and retinol, and as a marker of protein status generally has similar characteristics as prealbumin [110].

Since malnutrition may also affect the immune system, several immunological tests (e.g. **total lymphocyte count**, **delayed cutaneous hypersensitivity testing**) may be applied as a functional measure of nutritional status [98].

1.3. Evaluation of physical performance in COPD

Physical activity can be defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure, and includes different kinds of activities, such as domestic, occupational and leisure-time activities [112]. **Exercise** is a subset of physical activity that is planned, structured, repetitive and purposeful with an objective to improve or maintain **physical fitness** and **exercise capacity** - the maximum amount of physical exertion that a person can sustain [112, 113]. Furthermore, **activities of daily living** are another subset of physical activity that includes a set of basic, everyday tasks required for personal self-care and independent living [114].

Patients with COPD are markedly less physically active compared with age-matched healthy individuals, which becomes more evident with increasing COPD severity [115, 116]. Reduced exercise capacity and low physical activity in COPD have been related to multiple negative outcomes including poor health-related quality of life, increased exacerbation risk, and higher mortality [117-120]. For this reason, it is important to assess physical performance, quantify physical activity, and to employ additional effort in their improvement. In the evaluation of physical performance different methods are used, depending on the clinical settings, purpose of the investigation, and availability of financial resources.

Cardiopulmonary exercise testing is incremental, symptom-limited exercise testing, which is performed on a cycle ergometer or a treadmill in a specially equipped laboratory, and includes measurement of different cardiovascular and respiratory parameters [121]. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing allows a valid and comprehensive assessment of cardiopulmonary function capability.

The most commonly employed field walking tests are the **6MWT**, **incremental shuttle walk test**, and **endurance shuttle walk test**, which are proven to be a valid and reliable measure of exercise capacity for people with chronic respiratory diseases [122].

The **6MWT** [122, 123] is a self-paced test of walking capacity in which subjects are asked to walk as far as possible in 6 minutes along a flat corridor between two cones spaced 30 metres apart. The test includes measurement of pulse and SpO_2 by the continuous pulse oximetry, rating levels of baseline and post-test dyspnoea and fatigue according to the Borg scale, and most importantly recording of the total distance walked expressed in metres (i.e. 6-minute walk distance - 6MWD).

The **incremental shuttle walk test** [122] is an externally paced maximal exercise test in which the speed of walking is controlled by a series of pre-recorded signals, and the total distance walked is recorded. The participant is required to walk between two cones spaced 10 metres apart with gradual increase in the speed of walking until he cannot keep up with the set pace, or becomes too breathless or too tired to continue.

The **endurance shuttle walk test** [122] is an adaptation of the incremental shuttle walk test designed to assess endurance exercise capacity. Subjects are asked to walk for as long as possible at a constant pace that is a predetermined percentage of maximum walking performance as assessed by the incremental shuttle walk test. The primary outcome of the endurance shuttle walk test is time (expressed in minutes and seconds), although it can also be expressed as distance completed.

Several other simple field tests are available for a rapid assessment of physical performance, such as the **gait speed test**, **timed chair stand test**, and **timed up and go test**.

Gait speed is easily measured and enables the assessment of walking functional mobility. There are different versions of gait speed test, which differ in a distance walked and whether the usual or maximum speed is measured. In the original **4-metre gait speed (4MGS) test** [124] the participant walks 4 metre distance at his usual pace, and if needed he is allowed to use his normal walking aid (e.g. cane). Briefly, the 4 m distance is marked out on the floor

with tape, the participant is positioned with his toes just touching the start line, timing with the stopwatch starts when the participant begins to move and stops when his/her first foot completely crosses the 4-m line. The test is repeated without rest, and the faster of the two times is used to calculate 4MGS expressed in m/s. The 4MGS was proven to be a reliable and valid indicator of functional impairment in patients with COPD, and it correlates well with exercise capacity, dyspnoea and the health-related quality of life [124].

The **timed chair stand test** [125] was developed for the assessment of lower limb muscle strength in older people. There are several variants of this test – either to measure the time that a participant needs to rise 10 (original test), 1 or 5 times from a standard height chair (46 cm) with arms folded across the chest, or to measure the number of stands from a chair in 30 seconds (i.e. **30-second chair stand test**) [126] or in a 1 minute period (i.e. **sit-to-stand test**) [127].

The **timed up and go test** [128] is a reliable and valid test for quantifying functional mobility of frail elderly people. The participant is observed and timed while he rises from an arm chair, walks 3 metres at normal pace, turns, walks back, and sits down again. Use of a walking aid is permitted in this test.

Physical performance is directly related to a peripheral muscle mass, strength and endurance, which all often become impaired with the progression of COPD [129]. Muscle mass and its surrogate indicators, namely FFM and LM, can be quantified using one of the methods for body composition analysis (e.g. **anthropometry**, **BIA**, **DEXA**), as explained in the previous section. Additionally, in the assessment of regional limb muscle mass several other techniques are available, such as **CT**, **MRI** and **ultrasonography**, which have been used to assess quadriceps size in patients with COPD [129]. On the other hand, muscle function is evaluated by the measurement of muscle strength and/or endurance with different methodologies depending on whether muscle contraction is isometric or isokinetic, voluntary or involuntary (i.e. muscle contraction in response to an electrical or magnetic stimulation of a peripheral nerve) [129]. In the studies investigating muscle function in patients with COPD, **isometric quadriceps maximal voluntary contraction strength**, and the **handgrip strength** are most commonly measured [130, 131].

Assessment of overall physical activity is complex, and on the one hand includes widely available, low-cost methods, such are **questionnaires** and **pedometers**, and on the other hand
more accurate, sophisticated and expensive methods, such are **accelerometers** and **doubly labelled water method** [132].

Physical activity questionnaires and **diaries** are inexpensive and easy to use research instruments that are commonly used in epidemiological studies and large clinical trials to evaluate the different aspects of physical activity [133]. Among 104 available questionnaires that measure physical activity in elderly and chronically ill populations, 15 were developed for use in patients with COPD [134]. The main limitation is their lack of accuracy due to recall bias [133].

Pedometers or **step counters** are small, lightweight, portable and relatively inexpensive devices that measure the number of steps that a person creates in a given period of time [132]. They are usually worn on the waist and designed to detect vertical movements of the hips while walking, although some newer models of pedometers in the form of bracelet detect arm swing during walking. With some additional information including the average step length, height and weight of the subject pedometers may also roughly estimate distance walked and energy expenditure [132]. Nevertheless, their main disadvantage is that they tend to be less accurate and generally underestimate activity in individuals with slower walking speed, which makes them impractical for use in patients with advanced COPD who usually walk very slowly [135]. Furthermore, pedometers are not able to detect other forms of physical activity such are cycling, swimming and static exercise, what might be an issue when assessing physical activity in patients in early stage of COPD who still do some recreational sport activities.

Accelerometers or activity monitors are portable electronic devices worn on the body (usually on the waist, wrist, upper arm, or ankle) that measure quantity and intensity of bodily motion by detecting acceleration, and convert it to vector magnitude units (the vectorial sum of activity counts in different directions) [132, 135]. Accelerometers can detect movements along one axis (uni-axial accelerometers, which provide information similar to pedometers, but with the advantage of assessing acceleration in addition to simply detecting steps), two axes (bi-axial accelerometers) or three axes (tri-axial accelerometers) [132]. Some activity monitors have additional sensors for measuring other physiological functions (e.g. heart rate, skin temperature), which increases their accuracy in the estimation of daily physical activity and energy expenditure [132]. Reliability and validity of accelerometers, especially new ones with improved technology is generally high, which was also confirmed in several studies with COPD patients [135-137]. When measuring physical activity in daily life recommendation for

the number of assessment days is not straightforward and it depends on the population studied, but it is usually suggested that between 4 and 12 measurement days are needed to obtain accurate data [135].

Doubly labelled water method provides an indirect assessment of total energy expenditure by the body over a period of time [132]. The technique is based on the ingestion of water labelled with the hydrogen isotope ²H known as deuterium (i.e. ²H₂O), and with the oxygen isotope ¹⁸O (i.e. $H_2^{18}O$) in a known ratio [138]. The deuterium is eliminated through the urine, whereas the ¹⁸O is eliminated through the urine and CO₂, and by measuring their elimination rates in the urine one can estimate the CO₂ production, which further enables the calculation of energy expenditure [138]. Although this method is considered a "gold standard" for measuring the caloric cost of physical activity, its main drawback is that it actually does not allow separation of energy expenditure linked to physical activity and energy expenditure linked to basal metabolism and diet-induced metabolism, which needs to be taken into account when using this method in different study populations [132].

1.4. Background for the presented research

Respiratory symptomatology predominates in the clinical presentation of COPD, and for a long time it has been the main focus of diagnostic assessment and therapeutic efforts. However, extrapulmonary manifestations of COPD are increasingly being recognised as important determinants of disease severity and prognosis, and in the last two decades have become the subject of extensive scientific research [95]. Among common systemic manifestations of COPD are nutritional alterations and shifts in body composition, i.e. changes in the FFM, FM and BMC [96, 139]. Body weight loss and/or FFM depletion (defined as a FFMI <15 kg/m² for women and <16 kg/m² for men) are observed in 20-40% of COPD patients, with increasing prevalence in advanced stages of the disease, especially in women [140-142]. Different forms of nutritional depletion and body composition abnormalities have been described in COPD patients – cachexia (reduction in both body weight and FFM), semistarvation (reduction in body weight) [143]. It is of clinical importance that skeletal muscle mass waste, reflected in the reduction of LM and FFM, together with low body weight have been recognised as predictors of increased disability and mortality in

COPD [142, 144]. Additionally, a low FFMI is a strong predictor of mortality even in the COPD population with a normal BMI [143].

Loss of skeletal muscle mass (i.e. sarcopenia) is closely linked to COPD-related limb muscle dysfunction, which besides muscle fibre atrophy includes different structural and functional alterations of peripheral muscle, such as a reduced muscle capillarisation, muscle fibre type shifting from type I to II, reduced mitochondrial density and function, decreased muscle oxidative/aerobic capacity, enhanced muscle protein turnover, low mechanical efficiency and high resting energy expenditure [129]. Peripheral skeletal muscle dysfunction, as most frequently evidenced by a reduction in quadriceps strength and endurance, is demonstrable in one-third of COPD patients (even in those with mild disease), and associated with many important clinical implications including exercise intolerance, reduced quality of life, and increased health care use and mortality [129, 130, 145]. Although all mechanisms underlying the development of peripheral muscle wasting and dysfunction are not yet known, some contributing factors have been identified: deconditioning due to physical inactivity, inflammation (chronic low-grade systemic inflammation with additional increase in the inflammatory response during exacerbations), hypoxia, hypercapnia with tissue acidosis, local and systemic oxidative stress, corticosteroid therapy, smoking, vitamin D deficiency, low levels of anabolic hormones (e.g. testosterone), impaired energy balance (as a result of inadequate dietary intake and/or elevated energy expenditure due to increased work of breathing), ageing, etc. [129]. Many of these factors actually interfere with the muscle protein metabolism by reducing contractile protein synthesis and/or triggering its degradation, which ultimately leads to muscle atrophy and weakness [129].

In contrast to severe COPD, in which weight loss and skeletal muscle mass wasting/dysfunction are frequent findings, patients with mild-to-moderate COPD often tend to be overweight or obese with coexisting metabolic syndrome [146, 147]. There is some evidence of increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity in COPD – in the study by Eisner et al. [146] there were 20% overweight and 54% obese patients in a COPD cohort with a mean FEV₁ 58%, and in the study by Cecere et al. [148] 32% of patients were overweight (mean FEV₁ 50%) and 38% obese (mean FEV₁ 55%). In patients who are overweight or obese a higher FM is associated with slower walking speed, greater likelihood of functional limitation and increased cardiovascular risk, while higher lean mass-to-fat mass ratio is related to the faster walking speed and less limitation [146, 149, 150].

Physical activity together with many other factors (e.g. age, gender, genetics, ethnicity, dietary intake, different diseases and medications) affect body composition, but their relation is complex: body composition is influenced by exercise capacity and physical activity, and vice versa, changes in the body composition (e.g. muscle mass waste or gain, fat tissue increase) may have significant impact on physical performance [151-153]. There is strong evidence that COPD patients have a lower level and intensity of daily physical activity compared to age-matched healthy controls, and even compared to patients with other chronic diseases [115, 154]. Although physical inactivity may be present even in a mild disease, it becomes more common with increasing COPD severity so that sedentary lifestyle is one of the characteristics of advanced COPD [116, 155]. In most patients physical performance is limited by the two cardinal symptoms – dyspnoea and/or fatigue. Factors contributing to exercise intolerance may be divided into three main categories [79]:

1) Ventilatory limitation - includes airflow limitation, dynamic hyperinflation, pulmonary gas exchange abnormalities, respiratory muscle dysfunction;

2) Cardiac dysfunction - includes cardiovascular deconditioning, right ventricular overload/hypertrophy/failure as a result of an elevated pulmonary vascular resistance, compromised left ventricular filling due to right ventricular hypertrophy and interventricular septal shifting, tachyarrhythmias;

3) Peripheral muscle dysfunction - discussed previously.

In addition, exercise tolerance and physical activity may also be influenced by other factors, such as poor motivation, coexistence of anxiety/depression, sociodemographic factors (e.g. socioeconomic status, education level, ethnicity), environmental conditions (e.g. weather, climate, geographical location), day of the week etc. [132].

Low physical activity and exercise intolerance have multiple negative clinical implications in COPD – they are associated with functional limitation and disability, impaired health-related quality of life, increased exacerbation risk, higher hospital admission rate, occurrence of anxiety and depression, and increased mortality [117-120, 156-158].

Although the clinicians are increasingly becoming aware of the importance of physical activity, exercise capacity and nutritional status in patients with COPD, in clinical practice these are rarely assessed because their determination is time consuming and requires special equipment. However, the evaluation of physical performance and body composition would

improve overall medical care of COPD patients and enable detection of those who would benefit most from the pulmonary rehabilitation program and nutritional counselling.

Nutrition, metabolism and physical activity have been the topic of intense scientific research in many chronic diseases including COPD, but previous studies have mainly investigated either physical performance or nutritional status and their independent association with COPD severity and prognosis [118, 142, 155]. The main aim of the present study was to investigate the relationship between nutritional status and physical performance in COPD, and to assess the differences in the nutritional status and body composition in patients with poor and normal physical performance.

2. HYPOTHESIS

The hypothesis of the present research is that COPD patients with poor physical performance have deficient nutritional status. This hypothesis is supported by the previous observations that patients with COPD often have reduced physical activity / exercise capacity, and that nutritional abnormalities and body composition changes are common extrapulmonary manifestations of this disease.

3. AIMS AND PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH

General aim

To compare nutritional status / body composition in COPD patients with poor and normal physical performance assessed by the 6MWD, gait speed and daily physical activity

Specific aims

1) To identify factors associated with malnutrition in patients with COPD

2) To evaluate physical performance in patients with different forms of nutritional abnormality

3) To evaluate the association between physical activity and severity of COPD assessed by the lung function, symptoms severity and exacerbation frequency

4) To evaluate the correlation between daily physical activity and simple tests of muscle function/mass

5) To evaluate the association between physical activity, body composition and health-related quality of life

6) To evaluate the association between physical activity, body composition and anxiety/depression

4. MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY

4.1. Subjects

A cross-sectional observational study was conducted in outpatients with moderate to very severe COPD in the Dubrava University Hospital, Zagreb, Croatia, from February 2015 to June 2016. Patients' participation in the study was on a voluntary basis, and the participants met the following **inclusion criteria**:

- Age \geq 40 years
- Documented COPD history ≥ 1 year in accordance with the criteria set by the GOLD
 [54]
- Smokers or ex-smokers with smoking history ≥ 10 pack-years
- Post-bronchodilator spirometry with $FEV_1/FVC < 0.70$, and $FEV_1 < 80\%$ predicted
- Clinically stable (without exacerbations) for at least 3 months prior to enrolment

The **exclusion criteria** were concomitant diseases and conditions that might influence nutritional status and/or physical performance:

- Unstable cardiac disease (symptomatic ischaemic heart disease, heart failure, uncontrolled arrhythmias)
- Peripheral artery disease with intermittent claudication
- Limitation in walking due to neurological or osteomuscular disorder
- Active malignant disease
- COPD exacerbation within three months prior to enrolment
- Asthma
- Active respiratory disease other than COPD
- End-stage renal disease
- Decompensated liver cirrhosis
- Uncontrolled diabetes
- Uncontrolled thyroid pathology
- Dementia
- Sustained systemic corticosteroid therapy

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Dubrava University Hospital, Zagreb, and by the Ethics Committee of the School of Medicine, University of Zagreb. Each participant gave written informed consent.

4.2. Study design

Two study visits were scheduled within 7 ± 2 days. At the first visit all protocol-related procedures and measurements were performed including demographic and clinical data collection, pulmonary function tests, nutritional assessment, and physical performance evaluation. Tests of physical performance preceded the lung function tests.

4.2.1. Demographic and clinical data

Age, sex, smoking history expressed by pack-years, treatment and duration of COPD were recorded, along with the number of COPD exacerbations in the previous year. Based on the medical history and electronic health care database the information was obtained on moderate COPD exacerbations that required treatment with antibiotics and/or oral corticosteroids in the outpatient settings, and severe exacerbations that required hospitalisations. Comorbidities were evaluated according to the Charlson index [159]. The mMRC dyspnoea scale (**Table 2**) [36] and CATTM (**Figure 1**) [37] were used for the assessment of symptoms severity. Psychological status was evaluated by the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS), a fourteen item scale of which seven items are related to anxiety and the remaining seven to depression [160]. The Anxiety and Depression subscale scores enable classification into four groups: "normal" (0-7), "mild" (8-10), "moderate" (11-14), and "severe" (15-21). Health-related quality of life was assessed with the EuroQol questionnaire (EQ-5D-5L) that includes the visual analogue scale (VAS), descriptive system and calculation of index values [161].

4.2.2. Pulmonary function tests

Pre- and post-bronchodilator spirometry, single-breath DLCO measurement, and body plethysmography with lung volumes (Vmax Series Software Version 20-7, VIASYS Healthcare Inc., SensorMedics Corporation, USA) were performed according to standards set by the ATS/ERS using established reference values [33, 162, 163]. The following lung function parameters in absolute and percent predicted values were recorded: FEV₁, FVC, FEV₁/FVC ratio, DLCO, diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume (DLCO/VA), vital capacity (VC), TLC, RV, RV/TLC ratio.

Patients were classified as GOLD grade 2, 3 or 4 according to the severity of airflow limitation based on the post-bronchodilator FEV₁ (**Table 1**) [5]. The GOLD guidelines 2011-2016 [54] were applied for ABCD categorisation with respect to the post-bronchodilator FEV₁, exacerbation history, and symptoms severity assessed by the mMRC dyspnoea scale and the CATTM score (**Figure 2**).

Arterial blood gases were determined in subjects under resting conditions breathing room air (RAPIDLAB 348 pH/Blood Gas Analyzer, Siemens Medical Solutions Diagnostics, USA).

4.2.3. Nutritional assessment

Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg, height to the nearest 0.5 cm and expressed in meters, and the BMI was calculated as weight/height squared (kg/m²). The subjects were categorised into four groups based on the BMI: underweight (<21 kg/m²), normal weight (\geq 21, <25 kg/m²), overweight (\geq 25, <30 kg/m²), and obese (\geq 30 kg/m²). The choice of a cutoff <21 kg/m² for underweight is in line with the recommendation given by the ATS/ERS based on previous studies reporting a higher mortality in COPD patients with BMI <21 kg/m² [101-103].

Additional anthropometric measurements and calculations were performed by routine methods [100, 164, 165]: waist, hip, and calf circumference (CC) (cm); waist-to-hip ratio; mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) (cm); triceps skin fold (TSF) (measured in mm with the Harpenden Skinfold Caliper, British Indicators LTD, England); mid-arm muscle circumference (MAMC) calculated by the equation MAMC (cm) = MUAC (cm) – 0.314 x

TSF (mm); arm muscle area (AMA) calculated by the equation AMA (cm^2) = [MUAC (cm) – 0.314 x TSF (mm)]² / (4 x 3.14). Measurements of the MUAC, TSF and CC were taken on the right side of the body. All anthropometric measurements were performed twice, except for the TSF, which was measured in triplicate, and the mean values were recorded.

Body composition was assessed by the DEXA total body scan (Lunar PRODIGY Primo, enCORE Software version 11.1, GE Healthcare), as previously described in section 1.2., and the following parameters were obtained: LM (kg), FFM (kg), FM (kg), fat proportion (%), BMC (kg), BMD (g/cm²), and the T-score. Additionally, the lean mass index (LMI), the FFMI, and the fat mass index (FMI) were calculated by dividing the LM, FFM, and FM, respectively, by height squared and expressed in kg/m².

For rapid clinical assessment of nutritional status the MNA questionnaire was used, and patients were stratified in three categories according to the MNA score: "normal nutritional status" (24-30 points), "at risk of malnutrition" (17-23.5 points), and "malnourished" (<17 points) [166].

Venous blood samples were collected and analysed for the following biomarkers using commercially available assays: total lymphocyte count (Siemens ADVIA 2120i, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics [Shanghai], Walpole, NJ, USA), serum albumin (Beckman Coulter AU2700 plus, Miami, USA), prealbumin (Beckman Coulter AU680, Miami, USA), high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) (Beckman Coulter AU2700 plus, Miami, USA), and 25-hydroxyvitamin D (Siemens ADVIA Centaur XP, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics [Shanghai], Walpole, NJ, USA). All samples were analysed at the central laboratory of the Dubrava University Hospital.

4.2.4. Physical performance and muscle function assessment

In the evaluation of physical performance and peripheral muscle function seven different methods were used.

The 30-second chair stand test [126] and the timed up and go test [128] were performed as previously described in section 1.3. The timed up and go test was repeated with some rest in between if needed, and the faster of the two times was recorded.

The maximal handgrip strength (kg) was measured with a handheld dynamometer (KERN MAP 80K1, Version 1.2 08/2012, KERN & Sohn GmbH, Germany) in a sitting position while the hand was unsupported with the elbow at 90° flexion and the underarm and wrist in neutral positions [167]. The highest of the six measurements (three with each hand) was used in the analysis.

Ultrasound measurement of quadriceps rectus femoris cross-sectional area (RF_{CSA}) was done by the radiologist using a B-mode ultrasonography with an 8 MHz, 5.6 cm linear transducer array (General Electric Logiq E9, General Electric Company, WI, USA) according to a technique described by Seymour et al. [168]. Briefly, the patient was in a supine position with the rested right leg supported in passive extension, and the transducer was placed perpendicular to the long axis of the thigh on its superior aspect, three-fifths of the distance along a line from the anterior superior iliac spine to the superior patellar border. RF_{CSA} was calculated using a planimetric technique after the echogenic line of the rectus femoris was outlined manually on a frozen image, and the average of the three consecutive measurements was recorded.

The 4MGS was measured as previously described in section 1.3. [124].

The 6MWT was performed according to the ATS guidelines as previously explained in section 1.3. [123], and the measured 6MWD was used in the analysis. During both walk tests the subjects were allowed to use their usual walking aids (e.g. cane), and those with chronic respiratory insufficiency ($SpO_2 < 90\%$ at rest breathing room air) were provided with supplemental oxygen from a portable oxygen cylinder that was carried by the examiner during the tests.

At the end of the first visit the patients were supplied with the StepWatch Activity Monitor[®] (SAM) (Modus Health IIc, Washington DC, USA), an ankle-worn accelerometer for the assessment of physical activity. The SAM does not provide on-instrument feedback of steps walked, and its accuracy in detecting steps has been previously demonstrated in subjects with a range of activity levels, including patients with COPD [118, 137]. Patients were instructed to wear the SAM during 7±2 consecutive days except while washing and sleeping, to perform physical activity as usual, and to return the device at the second study visit when the data were downloaded. The days of the study visits, as well as no-wear days (< 8 hours of wear time) were excluded from the analysis, and the average daily step count was recorded.

4.3. Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to describe the study population. Categorical variables are presented as absolute numbers (percentages), and continuous variables as means \pm standard deviations (SD), or medians (1st quartile; 3rd quartile) in the case of non-normal distribution. For each measure of physical performance (6MWD, 4MGS, daily physical activity) the results were divided in the "poor" and "normal" group with cut-offs of 350 m for the 6MWD, 0.8 m/s for the 4MGS and the median for the average daily step count in line with previous studies [124, 169, 170]. Demographic, clinical and nutritional variables were compared between the "poor" and "normal" group. Categorical variables were compared with the Chi square or Fisher's test, while the Student's t or Mann-Whitney U test were used for comparison of continuous variables. The association between independent variables and "poor" physical performance was assessed using univariate and multivariate stepwise logistic regression analysis. Variables showing a p-value <0.1 in the univariate analysis were included in the multivariate models. The correlation between variables was analysed by Pearson's or Spearman's rank correlation tests. All the tests were conducted at a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$. The SPSS version 20 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) was used for all the analyses.

5. **RESULTS**

5.1. Patients' characteristics

A total of 112 patients were recruited, and one was excluded because of non-compliance, leaving 111 patients for analysis. The patients' characteristics are presented in **Table 4**. The study population was comprised of 76 (68.5%) men and 35 (31.5%) women, and the mean \pm SD age was 67.7 \pm 7.8 years (range 48-88 years). There were 39 (35%) smokers and 72 (65%) ex-smokers with a cumulative smoking history of 43.9 \pm 24.8 pack-years.

On average, patients had been treated for COPD 9.1 \pm 7.4 years, and 42 (37.8%) patients had had at least one moderate or severe COPD exacerbation in the previous year (mean number of moderate/severe exacerbations was 1.2 \pm 1.4, maximum 8). According to the pulmonary function tests the average patient had moderately severe airflow obstruction (mean postbronchodilator FEV₁ 48.9 \pm 15.0% pred., FEV₁/FVC 0.43 \pm 0.11), lung hyperinflation (TLC 110.5 \pm 24.6% pred., RV 159.5 \pm 62.2% pred., RV/TLC 55.0 \pm 13.2%, RV/TLC 134.5 \pm 31.6% pred.), mild-to-moderate decrease in diffusing capacity (DLCO 50.5 \pm 19.3% pred., DLCO/VA 70.3 \pm 22.9% pred.), and mild hypoxemia (pO₂ 9.2 \pm 1.4 kPa, SatO2 93.2 \pm 3.7%). Regarding symptoms severity the mean CAT score was 17.9 \pm 6.4 and mMRC dyspnoea grade 2.0 \pm 1.0.

The Charlson comorbidity index was 1.8 ± 1.0 , while the mean HADS scores on anxiety and depression were within the normal range. The health-related quality of life of the study population was impaired with an EQ-5D-5L index value of 0.7 ± 0.2 , and EQ-5D-5L VAS score of 57.9 ± 15.2 .

GOLD categorisation of the study population is depicted in **Figure 7.** According to the severity of airflow obstruction the most prevalent were GOLD 2 (47%) and GOLD 3 (42%) categories, and when symptoms and exacerbations were considered the majority of patients were in the GOLD groups B (29%) and D (61%). Frequency of the different therapies used in the study population are presented in **Figure 8**. LABA, LAMA and SABA were the most commonly used COPD medications.

Demographic and clinical parameters		Pulmonary function	
Age, years	67.7 ± 7.8	Post FVC, % pred.	90.8 ± 19.0
Sex		Post FEV ₁ , % pred.	48.9 ± 15.0
Male Female	76 (68.5) 35 (31.5)	Post FEV ₁ /FVC	0.43 ± 0.11
Smoking history, pack-years	43.9 ± 24.8	VC, % pred.	85.1 ± 19.1
Treated for COPD, years	9.1 ± 7.4	TLC, % pred.	110.5 ± 24.6
COPD exacerbations in the previous year	1.2 ± 1.4	RV, % pred.	159.5 ± 62.2
mMRC dyspnoea scale	2.0 ± 1.0	RV/TLC, %	55.0 ± 13.2
CAT score	17.9 ± 6.4	RV/TLC, % pred.	134.5 ± 31.6
Charlson comorbidity index	1.8 ± 1.0	DLCO, % pred.	50.5 ± 19.3
HADS Anxiety score	6.8 ± 4.1	DLCO/VA, % pred.	70.3 ± 22.9
HADS Depression score	7.3 ± 3.5	pO ₂ , kPa	9.2 ± 1.4
EQ-5D-5L index value	0.7 ± 0.2	pCO ₂ , kPa	5.6 ± 0.7
EQ-5D-5L VAS	57.9 ± 15.2	SatO ₂ , %	93.2 ± 3.7

Table 4. Baseline characteristics of the study population (n = 111).

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation or numbers (%), as appropriate.

Abbreviations: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DLCO: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FEV₁/FVC: ratio of forced expiratory volume in one second to forced vital capacity; FVC: forced vital capacity; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; pCO₂: partial pressure of carbon-dioxide in arterial blood; pO₂: partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood; Post: post-bronchodilator; pred: predicted; RV: residual volume; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity; SatO₂: arterial oxygen saturation; TLC: total lung capacity; VAS: visual analogue scale; VC: vital capacity.



Figure 7. GOLD categorisation of the study population.

Abbreviations: GOLD: Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease.



Figure 8. Frequency of different therapeutic options in the study population.

Abbreviations: ICS: inhaled corticosteroids; LABA: long-acting beta2-agonists; LAMA: long-acting muscarinic antagonists; LTOT: long-term oxygen therapy; SABA: short-acting beta2-agonists; SAMA: short-acting muscarinic antagonists.

5.2. Physical performance of the study population

The results of the physical performance and muscle function tests for the study population are presented in **Table 5**. On average, in the 6MWT patients achieved 376 ± 119 m (range 78-627 m), and 0.89 ± 0.22 m/s (range 0.33-1.35 m/s) in the 4MGS. The average daily step count for the study population was 8059 ± 4757 steps/day, but ranged from extremely poor (minimum 220 steps/day) to excellent (maximum 23342 steps/day).

A very strong correlation was found between the 6MWD and the 4MGS (Pearson coefficient r = 0.852, p<0.001). The correlation between physical activity and the 6MWD was strong (r = 0.681, p<0.001), while the correlation between physical activity and the 4MGS was moderate (r = 0.451, p<0.001).

The mean number of rises in the 30-second chair stand test was 11 ± 3 , while the mean result in the timed up and go test for the study population was 10.3 ± 3.3 s. The rest of the variables related to muscle function can be found in **Table 5**.

Parameter	
6-minute walk distance, m	376 ± 119
4-metre gait speed, m/s	0.89 ± 0.22
Physical activity, steps/day	8059 ± 4757
30-second chair stand test, number of rises	11 ± 3
Timed up and go test, s	10.3 ± 3.3
Handgrip strength – right hand, kg	30.7 ± 10.1
Handgrip strength – left hand, kg	29.1 ± 9.2
Rectus femoris cross-sectional area, cm ²	6.0 ± 1.8

Table 5. Physical performance and muscle function tests results for the study population.

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation.

5.3. Nutritional status of the study population

The mean BMI was $27.1 \pm 5.8 \text{ kg/m}^2$, and MNA score 24.0 ± 3.3 . The stratification of the study population based on the BMI and MNA scores is depicted in **Figure 9**.



Figure 9. Nutritional status of the study population assessed by the body mass index (**Fig 9A**) and the Mini Nutritional Assessment questionnaire (**Fig 9B**). Data are presented as number of patients (%) for each category.

The average values of the anthropometric measurements, MNA score, DEXA parameters and laboratory findings of the study population are presented in **Table 6**. Mean serum vitamin D concentration was 40.0 ± 18.2 nmol/L, and 86 patients (77%) were vitamin D deficient (serum vitamin D level < 50 nmol/L).

The mean FFMI for the study population was 18.3 ± 2.7 kg/m², and FFM depletion (FFMI <15 kg/m² for women, <16 kg/m² for men,) was more prevalent in women (37%) than in men (4%) – **Figure 10**.

Anthropometric measurements and MNA score		DEXA and laboratory parameters	
		Lean mass index, kg/m ²	17.4 ± 2.6
Body mass index, kg/m ²	27.1 ± 5.8	Fat-free mass index, kg/m ²	18.3 ± 2.7
Waist circumference, cm	97.3 ± 15.2	Fat mass index, kg/m ²	8.8 ± 4.1
Hip circumference, cm	99.4 ± 10.0	Fat proportion, %	30.9 ± 9.7
Waist-to-hip ratio	1.0 ± 0.1	Bone mineral content, kg	2.6 ± 0.6
Calf circumference, cm	35.6 ± 4.2	Bone mineral density, g/cm ²	1.1 ± 0.1
Mid-upper arm circumference, cm	29.8 ± 4.5	T-score	-1.0 ± 1.5
Triceps skin fold, mm	16.8 ± 8.0		
Mid-arm muscle circumference, cm	24.5 ± 3.2	Lymphocyte count, x10 ⁹ /L	2.0 ± 0.7
Arm muscle area, cm ²	48.6 ± 12.5	Albumin, g/L	46.2 ± 3.4
		Prealbumin, g/L	21.7 ± 4.7
MNA score	24.0 ± 3.3	hs-CRP, mg/L	6.9 ± 11.3
		Vitamin D, nmol/L	40.0 ± 18.2

Table 6. Nutritional parameters of the study population.

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation.

Abbreviations: DEXA: dual energy X-ray absorptiometry; hs-CRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; MNA: Mini Nutritional Assessment.



Figure 10. Prevalence of reduced fat-free mass index (FFMI) in male and female patients. Data are presented as number of patients (%).

5.4. Comparison of patients with poor and normal exercise capacity

Fifty-three (48%) patients had poor exercise capacity defined by the 6MWD \leq 350 m, and in comparison to those with normal exercise capacity (6MWD > 350 m) they were significantly older, had worse lung function, a higher CAT score and a higher mMRC dyspnoea level (p<0.05) (**Table 7**). Additionally, they had been treated longer for COPD, had more exacerbations, worse health-related quality of life, as well as a higher HADS Depression score (p<0.05). There was a higher proportion of women in the group of patients with 6MWD \leq 350 m than in the group with 6MWD > 350 m. Patients with poor exercise capacity also had a significantly slower gait speed and lower daily step counts (**Table 7**).

Comparison of nutritional parameters is presented in **Table 8**. Patients with low exercise capacity had a lower LMI, FFMI, BMC, BMD, and T-score (p<0.05). Among anthropometric measurements they had a significantly smaller CC, MUAC, MAMC and AMA. Furthermore, they had a lower MNA score, as well as lower serum albumin and prealbumin levels (p<0.05).

The factors that were independently and significantly related to low exercise capacity in the multivariate analysis were age, previous exacerbations, RV/TLC ratio, DLCO/VA, and mMRC dyspnoea level (**Table 9**). The multivariate model showed good goodness-of-fit (P-value of 0.608 in the Hosmer-Lemeshow test) and a good predictive power (area under the curve [AUC] = 0.922; p<0.001) (**Figure 11**).

Parameter	Patients with 6MWD \leq 350 m (n=53)	Patients with 6MWD > 350 m (n=58)	p-value
Age, years	70.1 ± 7.5	65.5 ± 7.4	0.002*
Sex Male Female	30 (56.6) 23 (43.4)	46 (79.3) 12 (20.7)	0.010*
Smoking history, pack-years	41.5 ± 24.2	46.2 ± 25.3	0.325
Treated for COPD, years	12.1±7.4	6.3 ± 6.3	<0.001*
COPD exacerbations in the previous year	1.8 ± 1.5	0.7 ± 1.0	<0.001*
mMRC dyspnoea scale	2.6 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 0.7	<0.001*
CAT score	20.9 ± 5.9	15.2 ± 5.7	<0.001*
Post FVC, % pred.	87.6 ± 20.3	93.8 ± 17.5	0.087
Post FEV ₁ , % pred.	43.2 ± 13.6	54.1 ± 14.5	<0.001*
TLC, % pred.	115.4 ± 28.3	106.2 ± 20.1	0.051
RV, % pred.	177.6 ± 66.4	143.6 ± 53.9	0.004*
RV/TLC, %	60.5 ± 13.3	50.2 ± 11.2	<0.001*
DLCO/VA, % pred.	63.4 ± 21.3	76.6 ± 22.8	0.002*
pO ₂ , kPa	8.7 ± 1.6	9.7 ± 1.2	0.001*
pCO ₂ , kPa	5.7 ± 0.8	5.5 ± 0.6	0.108
Charlson comorbidity index	1.8 ± 1.1	1.7 ± 1.0	0.946
HADS Anxiety score	7.6 ± 4.3	6.1 ± 3.8	0.055
HADS Depression score	8.5 ± 3.7	6.2 ± 3.0	<0.001*
EQ-5D-5L index value	0.7 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.1	<0.001*
EQ-5D-5L VAS	51.9 ± 15.0	63.4 ± 13.4	<0.001*
4MGS, m/s	0.74 ± 0.18	1.04 ± 0.14	<0.001*
6MWD, m	274 ± 78	469 ± 59	<0.001*
Physical activity, steps/day	5366 ± 3080	10519 ± 4703	<0.001*

Table 7. Characteristics of patients with poor and normal exercise capacity based on the 6minute walk distance (6MWD).

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation or numbers (%), as appropriate.

* statistically significant (p < 0.05)

Abbreviations: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC: forced vital capacity; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; 4MGS: 4-metre gait speed; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; 6MWD: 6-minute walk distance; pCO₂: partial pressure of carbon-dioxide in arterial blood; pO₂: partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood; Post: post-bronchodilator; pred: predicted; RV: residual volume; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity; TLC: total lung capacity; VAS: visual analogue scale.

Parameter	Patients with 6MWD \leq 350 m (n=53)	Patients with 6MWD > 350 m (n=58)	p-value
Body mass index, kg/m ²	26.6 ± 6.3	27.6 ± 5.3	0.388
Waist circumference, cm	95.3 ± 15.4	99.1 ± 14.9	0.190
Hip circumference, cm	98.5 ± 10.3	100.3 ± 9.7	0.343
Waist-to-hip ratio	1.0 ± 0.1	1.0 ± 0.1	0.242
Calf circumference, cm	34.5 ± 4.1	36.5 ± 4.2	0.013*
Mid-upper arm circumference, cm	28.8 ± 4.6	30.7 ± 4.2	0.026*
Triceps skin fold, mm	16.6 ± 8.3	17.0 ± 7.8	0.776
Mid-arm muscle circumference, cm	23.6 ± 3.2	25.3 ± 3.0	0.003*
Arm muscle area, cm ²	45.0 ± 12.1	51.8 ± 12.1	0.004*
Lean mass index, kg/m ²	16.7 ± 2.6	18.0 ± 2.4	0.006*
Fat-free mass index, kg/m ²	17.6 ± 2.8	19.0 ± 2.5	0.006*
Fat mass index, kg/m ²	8.9 ± 4.4	8.6 ± 3.8	0.662
Fat proportion, %	32.0 ± 10.2	29.9 ± 9.2	0.266
Bone mineral content, kg	2.4 ± 0.6	2.7 ± 0.6	0.003*
Bone mineral density, g/cm ²	1.07 ± 0.1	1.15 ± 0.1	0.002*
T-score	-1.4 ± 1.4	-0.7 ± 1.5	0.013*
MNA score	23.1 ± 3.5	24.9 ± 2.9	0.004*
Lymphocyte count, x10 ⁹ /L	1.9 ± 0.7	2.0 ± 0.7	0.359
Albumin, g/L	45.4 ± 3.0	46.8 ± 3.6	0.026*
Prealbumin, g/L	20.6 ± 4.8	22.7 ± 4.5	0.017*
hs-CRP, mg/L	7.8 ± 13.1	6.1 ± 9.5	0.415
Vitamin D, nmol/L	39.1 ± 16.5	40.9 ± 19.7	0.605

Table 8. Comparison of nutritional status between patients with poor and normal exercise

 capacity based on the 6-minute walk distance (6MWD).

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation.

* statistically significant (p <0.05)

Abbreviations: hs-CRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; MNA: Mini-Nutritional Assessment; 6MWD: 6-minute walk distance.

	Univariate		Multivariate	
Variable	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value
Age (years)	1.086 (1.029-1.147)	0.003	1.229 (1.090-1.385)	< 0.001
Sex (female)	2.939 (1.274-6.780)	0.011		
Previous exacerbations	4.384 (1.898-10.168)	0.001	4.216 (1.064-16.700)	0.040
FEV ₁ (% pred.)	0.983 (0.963-1.003)	0.089		
RV/TLC (%)	1.079 (1.038-1.182)	0.001	1.026 (1.002-1.052)	0.007
DLCO/VA (% pred.)	0.973 (0.955-0.991)	0.003	0.939 (0.899-0.980)	0.007
HADS Depression score	2.138 (0.981-4.596)	0.050		
CAT score	1.181 (1.095-1.275)	< 0.001		
EQ-5D-5L index value	0.007 (0.001-0.102)	0.001		
mMRC dyspnoea scale	9.382 (3.690-23.851)	0.001	7.389 (2.600-20.994)	< 0.001
MNA	0.835 (0.735-0.908)	0.005		
FFMI (kg/m ²)	0.814 (0.700-0.954)	0.008		
LMI (kg/m ²)	0.809 (0.691-0.947)	0.008		
BMD (g/cm ²)	0.010 (0.001-0.230)	0.004		
pO ₂ (kPa)	0.809 (0.772-0.820)	0.001		
Albumin (g/L)	0.873 (0.772-0.988)	0.032		
Prealbumin (g/L)	0.904 (0.831-0.984)	0.020		
Arm muscle area (cm ²)	0.954 (0.923-0.987)	0.006		
Calf circumference (cm)	0.889 (0.808-0.978)	0.016		

Table 9. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis for the prediction of poor exercise capacity defined by the 6-minute walk distance ≤ 350 m.

Abbreviations: BMD: bone mineral density; CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CI: confidence interval; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FFMI: fat-free mass index; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; LMI: lean mass index; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; MNA: Mini-Nutritional Assessment; 6MWD: 6-minute walk distance; OR: odds ratio; pO₂: partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood; pred: predicted; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity.



Figure 11. Receiver operating characteristic analysis of significant variables derived from the multivariate logistic regression model and their capacity to predict poor exercise capacity defined by the 6-minute walk distance ≤ 350 m. The model includes age, moderate/severe exacerbations in the previous year, ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity (RV/TLC), diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume (DLCO/VA), and mMRC dyspnoea level.

Abbreviations: AUC: area under the curve; CI: confidence interval; SE: standard error.

5.5. Comparison of patients with slow and normal gait speed

Thirty-six (32%) patients had slow gait speed defined by the 4MGS < 0.8 m/s. When compared to those with normal gait speed, patients with slow gait speed were significantly older, had a longer history of COPD, worse lung function, more frequent exacerbations, and a higher symptom burden assessed by the CAT and the mMRC dyspnoea scale (p<0.05) (**Table 10**). Moreover, patients with slow gait speed had worse health-related quality of life based on the results in the EuroQol questionnaire, and a higher HADS Depression score (p<0.05). Women were more prevalent in the group of patients with 4MGS < 0.8 m/s than in the group with 4MGS \geq 0.8 m/s. In addition, patients with slow gait speed had a significantly worse exercise capacity (i.e. shorter 6MWD) and lower daily step counts (**Table 10**).

Comparison of nutritional parameters is presented in **Table 11**. Patients with slow gait speed had a lower LMI, FFMI, BMC, BMD, T-score, and a lower MNA score (p<0.05). Anthropometric assessment has revealed a significantly smaller CC, MAMC and AMA in patients with 4MGS < 0.8 m/s.

Table 10. Characteristics of patients with slow and normal gait speed based on the 4-metregait speed (4MGS) test.

Parameter	Patients with 4MGS < 0.8 m/s (n=36)	Patients with $4MGS \ge 0.8 \text{ m/s}$ (n=75)	p-value
Age, years	70.0 ± 8.2	66.6 ± 7.4	0.032*
Sex Male Female	18 (50.0) 18 (50.0)	58 (77.3) 17 (22.7)	0.004*
Smoking history, pack-years	40.6 ± 24.1	45.5 ± 25.1	0.333
Treated for COPD, years	12.7± 8.2	7.3 ± 6.3	0.001*
COPD exacerbations in the previous year	1.9 ± 1.7	0.9 ± 1.1	<0.001*
mMRC dyspnoea scale	2.7 ± 0.9	1.6 ± 0.7	<0.001*
CAT score	20.8 ± 5.8	16.6 ± 6.3	0.001*
Post FVC, % pred.	86.1 ± 22.1	93.1 ± 17.1	0.102
Post FEV ₁ , % pred.	42.3 ± 15.1	52.1 ± 14.0	0.001*
TLC, % pred.	115.4 ± 31.1	108.2 ± 20.8	0.157
RV, % pred.	179.4 ± 69.8	150.1 ± 56.3	0.021*
RV/TLC, %	61.1 ± 14.9	52.1 ± 11.4	0.001*
DLCO/VA, % pred.	61.5 ± 22.1	74.5 ± 22.3	0.005*
pO ₂ , kPa	8.7 ± 1.7	9.5 ± 1.3	0.013*
pCO ₂ , kPa	5.7 ± 0.8	5.5 ± 0.7	0.141
Charlson comorbidity index	1.8 ± 1.2	1.7 ± 0.9	0.547
HADS Anxiety score	7.3 ± 3.9	6.6 ± 4.2	0.411
HADS Depression score	8.3 ± 3.8	6.8 ± 3.3	0.033*
EQ-5D-5L index value	0.6 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.1	<0.001*
EQ-5D-5L VAS	50.6 ± 14.1	61.4 ± 14.6	<0.001*
4MGS, m/s	0.65 ± 0.14	1.01 ± 0.13	<0.001*
6MWD, m	251 ± 85	436 ± 81	<0.001*
Physical activity, steps/day	5340 ± 3356	9364 ± 4794	<0.001*

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation or numbers (%), as appropriate.

* statistically significant (p < 0.05)

Abbreviations: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC: forced vital capacity; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; 4MGS: 4-metre gait speed; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; 6MWD: 6-minute walk distance; pCO₂: partial pressure of carbon-dioxide in arterial blood; pO₂: partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood; Post: post-bronchodilator; pred: predicted; RV: residual volume; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity; TLC: total lung capacity; VAS: visual analogue scale.

Table 11. Comparison of nutritional status between patients of with slow and normal gait

 speed based on the 4-metre gait speed (4MGS) test.

Parameter	Patients with 4MGS < 0.8 m/s (n=36)	Patients with $4MGS \ge 0.8 \text{ m/s}$ (n=75)	p-value
Body mass index, kg/m ²	26.3 ± 6.0	27.5 ± 5.7	0.300
Waist circumference, cm	94.3 ± 14.6	98.7 ± 15.3	0.150
Hip circumference, cm	98.0 ± 10.1	100.1 ± 9.9	0.293
Waist-to-hip ratio	1.0 ± 0.1	1.0 ± 0.1	0.257
Calf circumference, cm	33.9 ± 4.2	36.4 ± 4.1	0.004*
Mid-upper arm circumference, cm	28.6 ± 4.4	30.4 ± 4.4	0.051
Triceps skin fold, mm	16.7 ± 8.2	16.9 ± 7.9	0.870
Mid-arm muscle circumference, cm	23.4 ± 3.0	25.0 ± 3.1	0.009*
Arm muscle area, cm ²	44.1 ± 11.3	50.7 ± 12.6	0.009*
Lean mass index, kg/m ²	16.3 ± 2.4	17.9 ± 2.5	0.002*
Fat-free mass index, kg/m ²	17.2 ± 2.5	18.8 ± 2.6	0.002*
Fat mass index, kg/m ²	9.0 ± 4.4	8.7 ± 3.9	0.678
Fat proportion, %	32.6 ± 10.8	30.1 ± 9.2	0.208
Bone mineral content, kg	2.3 ± 0.6	2.7 ± 0.6	0.009*
Bone mineral density, g/cm ²	1.05 ± 0.1	1.14 ± 0.1	0.002*
T-score	-1.5 ± 1.4	-0.8 ± 1.5	0.017*
MNA score	22.5 ± 3.6	24.8 ± 2.9	0.001*
Lymphocyte count, x10 ⁹ /L	1.9 ± 0.7	2.0 ± 0.7	0.314
Albumin, g/L	45.5 ± 3.2	46.5 ± 3.5	0.155
Prealbumin, g/L	21.0 ± 5.1	22.0 ± 4.5	0.275
hs-CRP, mg/L	8.5 ± 15.3	6.1 ± 8.9	0.302
Vitamin D, nmol/L	38.9 ± 17.5	40.6 ± 18.6	0.642

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation.

* statistically significant (p <0.05)

Abbreviations: hs-CRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; 4MGS: 4-metre gait speed; MNA: Mini-Nutritional Assessment.

5.6. Comparison of patients with poor and normal physical activity

Fifty-six (50%) patients had poor physical activity defined by the daily step count \leq 7128 steps/day, and in comparison to those with normal physical activity they were significantly older, had a longer history of COPD, more frequent exacerbations, worse lung function, more severe respiratory symptoms based on the CAT score and mMRC dyspnoea level, and worse health-related quality of life (p<0.05). They also had a slower gait speed and a shorter 6MWD (**Table 12**).

Comparison of nutritional parameters is presented in **Table 13**. Among anthropometric measurements patients with low physical activity had a significantly smaller CC, MAMC and AMA, and when analysing body composition they had a lower LMI and FFMI (p<0.05). Furthermore, they had a significantly lower MNA score, as well as lower serum prealbumin and vitamin D levels (p<0.05).

The factors that were independently and significantly related to low physical activity in the multivariate analysis were age, DLCO/VA, and mMRC dyspnoea level (**Table 14**). The multivariate model was well calibrated (P-value of 0.331 in the Hosmer-Lemeshow test) and showed a good predictive power (AUC = 0.840; p<0.001) (**Figure 12**).

Parameter	Patients with ≤ 7128 steps/day (n=56)	Patients with > 7128 steps/day (n=55)	p-value
Age, years	69.3 ± 7.1	66.1 ± 8.1	0.026*
Sex Male Female	37 (66.1) 19 (33.9)	39 (70.9) 16 (29.1)	0.538
Smoking history, pack-years	42.0 ± 24.5	45.9 ± 25.2	0.415
Treated for COPD, years	11.0 ± 7.3	7.1 ± 7.0	0.006*
COPD exacerbations in the previous year	1.6 ± 1.6	0.8 ± 1.0	0.002*
mMRC dyspnoea scale	2.5 ± 1.0	1.5 ± 0.6	<0.001*
CAT score	20.0 ± 6.1	15.8 ± 6.1	0.001*
Post FVC, % pred.	87.3 ± 20.7	94.5 ± 16.6	0.046*
Post FEV ₁ , % pred.	43.5 ± 14.6	54.5 ± 13.5	<0.001*
TLC, % pred.	115.4 ± 28.0	105.8 ± 20.1	0.043*
RV, % pred.	176.1 ± 69.7	143.2 ± 49.2	0.006*
RV/TLC, %	58.5 ± 14.4	51.5 ± 11.0	0.005*
DLCO/VA, % pred.	64.2 ± 21.2	76.5 ± 23.2	0.004*
pO ₂ , kPa	8.9 ± 1.6	9.6 ± 1.2	0.006*
pCO ₂ , kPa	5.7 ± 0.8	5.4 ± 0.5	0.033*
Charlson comorbidity index	1.8 ± 1.1	1.7 ± 0.9	0.450
HADS Anxiety score	7.0 ± 4.3	6.6 ± 4.0	0.579
HADS Depression score	7.8 ± 3.5	6.8 ± 3.5	0.108
EQ-5D-5L index value	0.7 ± 0.2	0.8 ± 0.2	0.001*
EQ-5D-5L VAS	54.0 ± 16.4	61.8 ± 13.0	0.006*
4MGS, m/s	0.82 ± 0.22	0.97 ± 0.19	<0.001*
6MWD, m	316 ± 110	437 ± 95	<0.001*
Physical activity, steps/day	4403 ± 1662	11781 ± 3912	<0.001*

Table 12. Characteristics of patients with poor and normal physical activity based on the average daily step count.

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation or numbers (%), as appropriate.

* statistically significant (p <0.05)

Abbreviations: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC: forced vital capacity; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; 4MGS: 4-metre gait speed; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; 6MWD: 6-minute walk distance; pCO₂: partial pressure of carbon-dioxide in arterial blood; pO₂: partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood; Post: post-bronchodilator; pred: predicted; RV: residual volume; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity; TLC: total lung capacity; VAS: visual analogue scale.

Parameter	Patients with ≤ 7128 steps/day (n=56)	Patients with > 7128 steps/day (n=55)	p-value
Body mass index, kg/m ²	26.6 ± 6.0	27.7 ± 5.6	0.313
Waist circumference, cm	96.5 ± 15.0	98.1 ± 15.5	0.589
Hip circumference, cm	98.9 ± 10.0	99.9 ± 10.0	0.581
Waist-to-hip ratio	1.0 ± 0.1	1.0 ± 0.1	0.748
Calf circumference, cm	34.7 ± 3.9	36.5 ± 4.4	0.028*
Mid-upper arm circumference, cm	29.1 ± 4.4	30.4 ± 4.5	0.132
Triceps skin fold, mm	16.7 ± 8.5	16.9 ± 7.5	0.884
Mid-arm muscle circumference, cm	23.9 ± 2.8	25.1 ± 3.5	0.045*
Arm muscle area, cm ²	46.1 ± 10.7	51.1 ± 13.8	0.033*
Lean mass index, kg/m ²	16.8 ± 2.5	17.9 ± 2.5	0.027*
Fat-free mass index, kg/m ²	17.7 ± 2.6	18.9 ± 2.7	0.026*
Fat mass index, kg/m ²	8.8 ± 4.3	8.8±3.8	0.977
Fat proportion, %	31.3 ± 10.8	30.5 ± 8.6	0.673
Bone mineral content, kg	2.5 ± 0.6	2.6 ± 0.6	0.176
Bone mineral density, g/cm ²	1.09 ± 0.1	1.13 ± 0.1	0.074
T-score	-1.3 ± 1.5	-0.8 ± 1.5	0.072
MNA score	23.3 ± 3.4	24.7 ± 3.0	0.022*
Lymphocyte count, x10 ⁹ /L	1.9 ± 0.7	2.1 ± 0.7	0.210
Albumin, g/L	46.0 ± 2.8	46.4 ± 3.9	0.537
Prealbumin, g/L	20.7 ± 4.2	22.7 ± 5.1	0.032*
hs-CRP, mg/L	7.0 ± 9.3	6.9 ± 13.2	0.961
Vitamin D, nmol/L	34.7 ± 16.2	45.5 ± 18.6	0.001*

Table 13. Comparison of nutritional status between patients of with poor and normal physical activity based on the average daily step count.

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation.

* statistically significant (p <0.05)

Abbreviations: hs-CRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; MNA: Mini-Nutritional Assessment.

	Univariate		te Multivariate	
Variable	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value
Age (years)	1.059 (1.006-1.115)	0.029	1.086 (1.013-1.163)	0.021
Previous exacerbations	2.636 (1.192-5.826)	0.017		
FEV ₁ (% pred.)	0.979 (0.959-1.000)	0.049		
RV/TLC (%)	1.014 (1.000-1.027)	0.044		
DLCO/VA (% pred.)	0.975 (0.957-0.983)	0.006	0.975 (0.953-0.997)	0.026
HADS Depression score	1.300 (0.612-2.760)	0.049		
CAT score	1.117 (1.045-1.194)	< 0.001		
EQ-5D-5L index value	0.023 (0.002-0.258)	0.001		
mMRC dyspnoea scale	5.177 (2.543-10.546)	0.001	4.332 (2.124-8.833)	< 0.001
MNA	0.870 (0.769-0.983)	0.026		
FFMI (kg/m ²)	0.850 (0.734-0.984)	0.029		
LMI (kg/m ²)	0.844 (0.724-0.983)	0.030		
BMD (g/cm^2)	0.074 (0.004-1.317)	0.076		
$pO_2(kPa)$	0.680 (0.512-0.902)	0.007		
Prealbumin (g/L)	0.914 (0.841-0.994)	0.035		
Vitamin D (nmol/L)	0.964 (0.942-0.987)	0.003		
Arm muscle area (cm ²)	0.967 (0.937-0.998)	0.036		
Calf circumference (cm)	0.074 (0.004-1.317)	0.076		

Table 14. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis for the prediction of poor physical activity defined by the daily step count \leq 7128 steps/day.

Abbreviations: BMD: bone mineral density; CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CI: confidence interval; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FFMI: fat-free mass index; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; LMI: lean mass index; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; MNA: Mini-Nutritional Assessment; OR: odds ratio; pO₂: partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood; pred: predicted; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity.



Figure 12. Receiver operating characteristic analysis of significant variables derived from the multivariate logistic regression model and their capacity to predict poor physical activity defined by the daily step count \leq 7128 steps/day. The model includes age, diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume (DLCO/VA) and mMRC dyspnoea level.

Abbreviations: AUC: area under the curve; CI: confidence interval; SE: standard error.

5.7. Evaluation of factors associated with malnutrition in patients with COPD

Eighteen (16%) patients were underweight (BMI < 21 kg/m²) and in comparison to patients with BMI \geq 21 kg/m² they had more severe lung hyperinflation (i.e. higher TLC, RV, and RV/TLC), and more pronounced reduction in lung diffusing capacity (i.e. lower DLCO/VA) (p<0.05) (**Table 15**). Underweight patients also had more severe airflow limitation (i.e. lower FEV₁), however this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.058).

There were no significant differences between underweight patients and the rest of the study population regarding age, sex ratios, smoking history, COPD duration, symptoms severity, frequency of COPD exacerbations, comorbidities, psychological status, and health-related quality of life (**Table 15**).

Parameter	Patients with BMI < 21 kg/m ² (n=18)	Patients with BMI \ge 21 kg/m ² (n=93)	p-value
Age, years	66.2 ± 7.4	68.0 ± 7.8	0.625
Sex Male Female	10 (55.6) 8 (44.4)	66 (71.0) 27 (29.0)	0.198
Smoking history, pack-years	39.9 ± 25.8	44.7 ± 24.6	0.419
Treated for COPD, years	7.6 ± 8.2	9.4 ± 7.3	0.197
COPD exacerbations in the previous year	1.4 ± 2.2	1.2 ± 1.2	0.514
mMRC dyspnoea scale	2.3 ± 1.0	1.9 ± 0.9	0.138
CAT score	18.6 ± 6.2	17.8 ± 6.5	0.651
Post FVC, % pred.	91.2 ± 21.3	90.8 ± 18.7	0.737
Post FEV ₁ , % pred.	43.0 ± 16.0	50.1 ± 14.7	0.058
TLC, % pred.	129.7 ± 16.0	106.7 ± 24.3	<0.001*
RV, % pred.	208.2 ± 61.5	149.9 ± 57.9	<0.001*
RV/TLC, % pred.	152.8 ± 32.2	130.9 ± 30.3	0.004*
DLCO/VA, % pred.	47.7 ± 13.7	74.7 ± 21.8	<0.001*
Charlson comorbidity index	1.6 ± 0.9	1.8 ± 1.1	0.472
HADS Anxiety score	5.9 ± 4.1	6.9 ± 4.1	0.507
HADS Depression score	7.3 ± 2.4	7.3 ± 3.7	0.803
EQ-5D-5L index value	0.7 ± 0.2	0.7 ± 0.2	0.885
EQ-5D-5L VAS	55.3 ± 15.0	58.4 ± 15.3	0.447

Table 15. Comparison of clinical and lung function parameters between underweight patients (body mass index [BMI] < 21 kg/m^2) and patients with BMI $\ge 21 \text{ kg/m}^2$.

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation or numbers (%), as appropriate.

* statistically significant (p < 0.05)

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC: forced vital capacity; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; Post: post-bronchodilator; pred: predicted; RV: residual volume; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity; TLC: total lung capacity; VAS: visual analogue scale.

5.8. Evaluation of physical performance in patients with different forms of nutritional abnormality

The average values for the 4MGS, 6MWD and daily step count for patients in four BMI categories – underweight (BMI <21 kg/m²), normal weight (BMI \ge 21, <25 kg/m²), overweight (BMI \ge 25, <30 kg/m²) and obese (BMI \ge 30 kg/m²) are presented in **Table 16**.

No significant differences were observed in the physical performance between patients in different BMI categories.

Parameter	Underweight patients* (n=18)	Patients with normal weight # (n=31)	Overweight patients § (n=27)	Obese patients \$ (n=35)	p-value
4MGS, m/s	0.85 ± 0.23	0.90 ± 0.24	0.88 ± 0.24	0.92 ± 17	0.728
6MWD, m	348 ± 140	379 ± 115	386 ± 123	379 ± 112	0.759
Physical activity, steps/day	7104 ± 5356	8074 ± 4701	9295 ± 5383	7582 ± 3909	0.412

Data are presented as means \pm standard deviation.

* BMI <21 kg/m²

BMI ≥21, <25 kg/m²

§ BMI ≥25, <30 kg/m²

 $BMI \ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$

Abbreviations: BMI: body mass index; 4MGS: 4-metre gait speed; 6MWD: 6-minute walk distance.
5.9. Association between physical activity and severity of COPD

The association between physical activity expressed as a daily step count and selected parameters related to the severity of COPD (i.e. lung function parameters, symptoms severity scores, frequency of exacerbations) was evaluated using the Spearman correlation analysis (**Table 17, Figure 13**).

A strong negative and a moderate positive correlation was observed between daily step count and the mMRC dyspnoea level (Spearman correlation coefficient rho = -0.664, p<0.001), and the FEV₁ (rho = 0.467, p<0.001), respectively (**Fig 13A** and **13B**). The correlation for the RV/TLC was moderate, negative (rho = -0.400, p<0.001) (**Fig 13C**), and for the DLCO/VA weak, positive (rho = 0.312, p=0.001) (**Fig 13D**). Previous exacerbations and the CAT score both showed weak negative correlation with daily step count (**Fig 13E** and **13F**).

	Daily step count
	Spearman correlation coefficient rho, p-value
Post FEV ₁ , % pred.	0.467, p<0.001*
RV/TLC, %	-0.400, p<0.001*
DLCO/VA, % pred.	0.312, p=0.001*
COPD exacerbations in the previous year	-0.308, p=0.001*
mMRC dyspnoea level	-0.664, p<0.001*
CAT score	-0.372, p<0.001*

Table 17. Correlations between daily step count and parameters of COPD severity.

* statistically significant (p < 0.05)

Abbreviations: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; Post: post-bronchodilator; pred: predicted; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity.













Figure 13. Correlations between daily step count and parameters of COPD severity.

Abbreviations: CAT: COPD Assessment Test; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DLCO/VA: diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide per litre of alveolar volume; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; mMRC: modified Medical Research Council; Post: post-bronchodilator; pred: predicted; RV/TLC: ratio of residual volume to total lung capacity.

5.10. Correlation between physical activity and simple tests of muscle function / mass

The results of the Spearman correlation analysis for physical activity expressed as a daily step count and simple tests of muscle function (4MGS, 6MWD, 30-second chair stand test, timed up and go test, handgrip strength) and several indicators of muscle mass (FFMI, CC, AMA, RF_{CSA}) are presented in **Table 18** and **Figure 14**.

A strong correlation was found between daily step count and the 6MWD (rho = 0.684, p<0.001) (**Fig 14A**), and a moderate correlation between daily step count and the 4MGS (rho = 0.464, p<0.001) (**Fig 14B**). The correlation for the 30-second chair stand test was moderate, positive (rho = 0.402, p<0.001) (**Fig 14C**), and for the timed up and go test moderate, negative (rho = -0.463, p<0.001) (**Fig 14D**). Furthermore, the FFMI and daily physical activity showed a weak correlation (rho = 0.210, p=0.027) (**Fig 14E**).

No significant correlations were found between daily step count and the handgrip strength, CC, AMA and RF_{CSA}, respectively (**Table 18**).

	Daily step count		
	Spearman correlation coefficient rho, p-value		
4-metre gait speed, m/s	0.464, p<0.001*		
6-minute walk distance, m	0.684, p<0.001*		
30-second chair stand test, number of rises	0.402, p<0.001*		
Timed up and go test, s	-0.463, p<0.001*		
Handgrip strength, kg	0.129, p=0.176		
Fat-free mass index, kg/m ²	0.210, p=0.027*		
Calf circumference, cm	0.167, p=0.080		
Arm muscle area, cm ²	0.163, p=0.088		
Rectus femoris cross-sectional area, cm ²	0.134, p=0.161		

Table 18. Correlations between daily step count and parameters of muscle function / mass.

* statistically significant (p < 0.05)











Figure 14. Significant correlations between daily step count and parameters of muscle function / mass.

Abbreviations: FFMI: fat-free mass index; 4MGS: 4-metre gait speed; 6MWD: 6-minute walk distance.

5.11. Association between physical activity, body composition and healthrelated quality of life

The Spearman rank correlation test was used to determine the association between physical activity, FFMI and health-related quality of life, which was assessed with the EQ-5D-5L index value and the EQ-5D-5L VAS (**Table 19**).

Physical activity expressed as a daily step count showed a moderate positive correlation with the EQ-5D-5L index value (rho = 0.403, p<0.001) (**Fig 15A**), and a weak positive correlation with the EQ-5D-5L VAS score (rho = 0.308, p=0.001) (**Fig 15B**).

No correlation was found between FFMI and the health-related quality of life measures (Table 19).

Table	19 .	Correlations	between	physical	activity,	fat-free	mass	index	and	health-related
quality	of li	fe measures.								

	EQ-5D-5L index value	EQ-5D-5L VAS		
	Spearman correlation coefficient rho, p-value	Spearman correlation coefficient rho, p-value		
Physical activity, steps/day	0.403, p<0.001*	0.308, p=0.001*		
Fat-free mass index, kg/m ²	0.115, p=0.231	0.148, p=0.121		

* statistically significant (p < 0.05)

Abbreviations: EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; VAS: visual analogue scale.







Abbreviations: EQ-5D-5L: EuroQol questionnaire; VAS: visual analogue scale.

5.12. Association between physical activity, body composition and anxiety / depression

Based on the HADS Anxiety score, 42 (38%) patients had some degree of anxiety (HADS Anxiety score \geq 8): 26 (23%) patients scored in the range of mild anxiety, 8 (7%) moderate, and 8 (7%) severe anxiety. Regarding symptoms of depression, 48 (43%) patients manifested clinically significant depression (HADS Depression score \geq 8): 26 (23%) mild, 19 (17%) moderate, and 3 (3%) severe depression.

No significant correlations were found between daily step count and HADS Anxiety score and HADS Depression score, respectively (**Table 20**). Similarly, there were no correlations between FFMI and measures of anxiety/depression.

	HADS Anxiety score	HADS Depression score
	Spearman correlation coefficient rho, p-value	Spearman correlation coefficient rho, p-value
Physical activity, steps/day	-0.003, p=0.975	-0.168, p=0.077
Fat-free mass index, kg/m ²	-0.109, p=0.255	-0.089, p=0.353

Table 20. Correlation between physical activity, fat-free mass index and psychological status.

Abbreviations: HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

6. **DISCUSSION**

The results of the presenting study indicate that in the population of ambulatory patients with moderate to very severe COPD, patients with poor physical performance have deficient nutritional status, which manifested dominantly with lower parameters of muscle/bone tissue and serum protein levels. There were no significant differences in the BMI and parameters related to fat tissue between patients with poor and normal physical performance. In the multivariate analysis the variables that were independently and significantly associated with poor exercise capacity were older age, previous exacerbations, lung hyperinflation, reduced lung diffusion capacity and dyspnoea level; and likewise, older age, reduced lung diffusion capacity and parameters were independently associated with poor physical activity. However, none of the nutritional parameters were identified as independently related to poor physical performance.

6.1. Discussion regarding the general aim of the research

Comparison of nutritional status / body composition in COPD patients with poor and normal physical performance

Patients with COPD apart from respiratory symptoms often develop extrapulmonary manifestations of the disease, some of them being nutritional alterations and body composition changes [96, 139]. Furthermore, physical inactivity is highly prevalent in patients with COPD, which is closely associated not only with the ventilatory limitation, but also with the peripheral muscle loss and dysfunction [115, 129].

The general aim of the presenting research was to compare nutritional status and body composition in COPD patients with poor and normal physical performance, which was assessed in three different ways – evaluation of exercise capacity by the 6MWD, measurement of gait speed by the 4MGS test, and objectively measured physical activity expressed as average daily step count. According to our results patients with poor physical performance determined by any of these three methods had deficient nutritional status in terms of reduced MNA score and several indicators of skeletal muscle mass – lower LMI and FFMI, as well as smaller CC, MAMC and AMA (**Table 8, 11, 13**). Additionally, patients with

poor exercise capacity (i.e. $6MWD \le 350$ m) and those with slow gait speed (i.e. 4MGS < 0.8 m/s) also had reduced DEXA parameters of bone tissue (i.e. BMC, BMD, T-score) (**Table 8** and **11**), which might have been influenced by a higher proportion of women in both "poor exercise capacity" and "slow gait speed" groups compared to the respective "normal" groups (**Table 7** and **10**). Namely, women are more prone to increased loss of bone tissue with ageing than men, especially in the postmenopausal period [171].

Although patients with poor physical activity (i.e. \leq 7128 steps/day) also had lower BMD and T-score in comparison to patients with normal physical activity, this trend did not reach statistical significance (p=0.07), what is somewhat surprising considering that a significant difference was observed in the serum concentration of vitamin D, which is very important in bone metabolism. Patients with poor physical activity had significantly lower mean serum vitamin D concentration (**Table 13**), nevertheless, the causal relationship between vitamin D and physical activity level in this research could not be established because of the crosssectional study design, but the association might be bidirectional. Namely, vitamin D may improve physical performance, especially in the elderly population, through its function in musculoskeletal system [172, 173]. On the other hand, patients with more outdoor physical activities have more sun exposure that stimulates the production of vitamin D in the skin, which is the main source of vitamin D in humans. It is of note, however, that although patients with normal physical activity had significantly higher serum vitamin D levels, even 77% of study population was vitamin D deficient (serum vitamin D concentration < 50nmol/L), and the mean vitamin D levels for the entire study population as well as in all "poor" and "normal" physical performance groups were constantly in the range of deficiency (Table 6, 8, 11, 13), which is consistent with the previously reported high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in the general elderly population [173, 174].

Serum proteins may give additional information on nutritional status, and in this study albumin and prealbumin levels were explored. Since both proteins belong to the negative acute phase reactants, the concentration of which fall during inflammation [111], serum levels of hs-CRP were also determined as a measure of systemic inflammation. Patients with poor exercise capacity had significantly lower serum albumin and prealbumin concentrations, and patients with poor physical activity had lower prealbumin levels (**Table 8** and **13**). No relation was found between hs-CRP and physical performance.

It is important to note that there were no differences in the BMI, FMI, fat proportion, waist and hip circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and TSF between patients with poor and normal physical performance (**Table 8, 11, 13**), which suggests that nutritional differences that were observed in relation to physical performance are mainly reserved to the muscle/bone mass and protein status, and not to the fat tissue. This is not surprising having in mind the central role of the musculoskeletal system in body movements. These results are also in line with previously published studies using BIA in the body composition evaluation in COPD patients that found a positive correlation between FFMI and the 6MWD [153, 175]. However, the advantage of this research is that in the assessment of nutritional status several different methods were used - anthropometry, serum biomarkers, MNA questionnaire, and most importantly the DEXA, which is considered a reference method for the measurement of body composition in the clinical settings and is superior to more accessible and more used BIA [176].

Besides nutritional parameters the comparison of patients with poor and normal physical performance also included demographic variables and parameters related to the lung disease, health-related quality of life and psychological status. Irrespective of which method was used in the assessment of physical performance (6MWD, 4MGS or daily step count), patients with poor physical performance were older, had worse lung function (i.e. more severe airflow obstruction manifested as the lower FEV₁, lung hyperinflation demonstrated by the higher RV and RV/TLC, reduced lung diffusion capacity, more pronounced hypoxemia), higher symptom burden, more frequent exacerbations, and worse health-related quality of life (**Table 7, 10, 12**). These data are consistent with the findings of other authors, who reported higher prevalence of physical inactivity with increasing COPD severity [116, 155], and related physical inactivity / exercise intolerance to multiple negative clinical consequences including functional limitation, impaired health-related quality of life, higher exacerbation and hospital admission rate, and increased mortality [117-120, 156].

In order to detect which variables are independently associated with poor physical performance, we performed the multivariate analysis. Two multivariate models were built, the first one with poor exercise capacity (i.e. $6MWD \le 350$ m) as a dependent variable, and the second one with poor physical activity (i.e. ≤ 7128 steps/day) as a dependent variable. Since a very strong correlation was found between 6MWD and 4MGS, which is in accordance with previously published data [169, 177], separate multivariate analysis for slow gait speed was not justified and therefore not performed. The variables that were independently and significantly associated with poor exercise capacity in the first multivariate model were older age, previous exacerbations, lung hyperinflation, reduced lung diffusion capacity and increased level of dyspnoea. Similarly, the second multivariate model identified older age,

decreased lung diffusion capacity and higher dyspnoea level as independently associated with poor physical activity. Although several nutritional parameters (e.g. MNA score, FFMI, LMI, AMA, prealbumin) showed a significant association with poor physical performance in the univariate analysis, after adjusting for age, sex, and parameters of lung function and symptoms severity in the multivariate models this significance was lost and finally none of the nutritional parameters were independently associated with poor physical performance. This suggests that age, air trapping, gas transfer and dyspnoea have a stronger relation to physical performance, and that the body composition alterations observed in patients with different levels of physical performance are secondary and influenced by other factors, probably related to the disease itself and to the process of ageing.

6.2. Discussion regarding the specific aims of the research

6.2.1. Factors associated with malnutrition in patients with COPD

Although the term malnutrition includes both undernutrition and overnutrition (as previously explained in section 1.2.), here it has been used in its narrow sense of meaning referring to the undernutrition and underweight. Reduced body weight and low BMI, largely attributed to the loss of skeletal muscle mass, have long been recognised as independent predictors of health-care use and mortality in COPD [101, 102, 142]. On the other hand, for patients with COPD being overweight or obese seems to have a protective effect on survival. Namely, overweight and obese COPD patients have a lower risk of all-cause mortality when compared not only to underweight patients, but also to those with normal weight, which was named "obesity paradox" [101, 102, 178].

As it was explained in section 1.2., studies on COPD frequently use a BMI <20 or <21 kg/m² when defining underweight instead of <18.5 kg/m² (recommended by the WHO for the general population), since a higher mortality has been observed in COPD patients below these values [101, 102]. The cut-off BMI <21 kg/m² for underweight patients with COPD is also recommended by the ATS/ERS [103], and it was applied in the presenting research.

We identified only 18 (16%) underweight patients, while the proportion of overweight and obese patients was quite high (24% and 32%, respectively) (**Figure 9A**). Furthermore, FFM depletion, defined as FFMI <16 kg/m² for men and <15 kg/m² for women, was detected in 4%

of male and 37% of female patients in our study population (**Figure 10**). According to the previously published data underweight and FFM depleted patients make up 20-40% of the COPD population, with increasing prevalence in advanced stages of disease, especially in women [140-142]. Lower prevalence of underweight in our population may be explained by the fact that the study was conducted in outpatients with the mean postbronchodilator FEV_1 49% and the majority of patients were in the GOLD 2 and 3 category of airflow limitation (**Figure 7**). Due to the study design and exclusion criteria the most fragile patients with very severe COPD who are bedridden or extremely inactive could not have been included in this research, and in such population a prevalence of underweight is expected to be higher.

On the other hand, a high proportion of overweight/obese patients in our research concurs with some previous studies that reported a rising prevalence of overweight and obesity in COPD, especially in mild-to-moderate disease – in the study by Eisner et al. [146] in a COPD cohort with a mean FEV₁ 58% there were 20% overweight and 54% obese patients, and in the study by Cecere et al. [148] 32% of patients were overweight (mean FEV₁ 50%) and 38% obese (mean FEV₁ 55%).

When underweight patients were compared with the rest of the study population, the parameters that were significantly different between them were TLC, RV, RV/TLC (higher in underweight) and DLCO/VA (lower in underweight) (**Table 15**), which suggests more severe lung hyperinflation and reduction in lung diffusion capacity. Although imaging techniques (e.g. chest CT scan) were not used in our study and therefore the degree of emphysema could not have been precisely measured, lung function measurements reflecting lung hyperinflation and decreased lung diffusion capacity provide a good estimate of the extent of emphysema [179]. Our results are in accordance with previously published data indicating that low body weight in COPD is related to the degree of emphysema [180]. In our study underweight patients also had more severe airflow limitation (i.e. lower FEV₁), however this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.058).

Due to the small number of underweight patients the multivariate analysis in prediction of malnutrition would not be conclusive and was therefore not performed.

6.2.2. Physical performance in patients with different forms of nutritional abnormality

Based on the previous observations suggesting bidirectional relation between physical performance and nutritional status, we explored and compared the physical performance of COPD patients in different BMI categories (underweight, normal weight, overweight, and obese). Contrary to some of the existing evidence, the differences in the 6MWD, 4MGS and daily step count between patients in different BMI categories in our study were not significant (**Table 16**). On the other hand, Ischaki et al. [175] found a positive correlation between 6MWD and both BMI and FFMI. In addition, in the study by Lan et al. [181] underweight patients with COPD had impaired exercise capacity, and the additional strengths of this study are that it was conducted in a lung function-matched patients (the mean FEV₁ was similar in the underweight, normal-weight, and overweight group) and that in the assessment of exercise capacity cardiopulmonary exercise test was used instead of 6MWT. In our research underweight patients also had the worst exercise capacity (i.e. the lowest mean 6MWD), though this trend did not reach statistical significance.

Regarding gait speed, Abbatecola et al. [150] showed in a population of older COPD patients that participants with the slowest gait speed apart from being older and having worse lung function, also had higher BMI and FM, as well as lower lean-to-fat ratio. Additionally, among body composition markers FM was the only independent determinant of walking speed [150]. However, due to the methodological differences in the study design a comparison of the results of this study and our study is limited. Firstly, Abbatecola et al. [150] calculated the gait speed by dividing 6MWD by time, and we performed 4MGS test. Secondly, the population in a study by Abbatecola et al. [150] was better (the mean values for the three walking speed tertiles were 0.93, 1.1 and 1.43 m/s, respectively) than in our study population (mean walking speed 0.89 m/s, range 0.33-1.35 m/s). Thirdly, in the body composition analysis Abbatecola et al. [150] used BIA instead of DEXA that was used in our study, and they used absolute values for FM and FFM, while we calculated FMI and FFMI by dividing the FM and FFM, respectively, by height squared.

When it comes to physical activity, Monteiro et al. [182] demonstrated worse physical activity in the daily life in obese COPD patients compared to underweight and normal-weight patients. In our study obese and underweight patients had the lowest daily step count, and

overweight patients the highest, nevertheless, these differences were not statistically significant.

6.2.3. Association between physical activity and severity of COPD

It is well established that low physical activity is common in patients with COPD, what becomes even more evident with increasing severity of the disease, as discussed previously in sections 1.3. and 1.4. [115, 116, 155]. In order to investigate the association between physical activity and the severity of COPD in our patients, we looked for a correlation between daily step count and several parameters of lung function, symptoms severity scores and exacerbation frequency (**Table 17**).

Existing evidence supports the association between physical activity and various lung function indicators of respiratory limitation in COPD, which includes airflow limitation, static and dynamic lung hyperinflation, reduced lung diffusion capacity with subsequent pulmonary gas exchange abnormalities, and respiratory muscle dysfunction [137, 183-187]. In line with previous studies our results indicate significant correlations between daily step count and several parameters of lung function – the correlation was moderate positive in the case of FEV₁, indicator of airflow limitation (**Fig 13B**); moderate negative in the case of RV/TLC, marker of lung hyperinflation (**Fig 13C**); and weak positive for the DLCO/VA, representing lung diffusion capacity (**Fig 13D**).

We also found a strong negative correlation between daily step count and the mMRC dyspnoea grade, which concurs with previously published data repeatedly demonstrating that physical activity is affected by the level of exertional breathlessness [137, 183].

Furthermore, previous findings suggest linear relationship between self-reported walking time and CAT score, a measure of symptom severity in COPD [119]. In our study a weak negative correlation was observed between CAT score and objectively measured physical activity (**Fig 13F**).

Exacerbations are unfavourable events in the course of COPD with multiple negative implications. Existing evidence suggest a bidirectional relation between physical activity and COPD exacerbations. Namely, due to worsening in respiratory symptoms patients are less active during exacerbations and shortly thereafter, moreover, frequent previous exacerbations

have been recognised as predictors of reduced physical activity in the future [184, 189]. On the other hand, higher level of physical activity may be protective and may prolong the time until the next exacerbation [157, 190]. In accordance with the previously published data, we found a weak negative correlation between the number of moderate/severe exacerbations in the previous year and a daily step count (**Fig 13E**).

6.2.4. Correlation between physical activity and simple tests of muscle function / mass

The assessment of physical activity is time consuming and requires additional equipment, which makes it impractical for its implementation in routine clinical practice. Hence, one of the aims of the present research was to evaluate whether some simple and rapid tests of physical performance exhibit a good correlation with objectively measured physical activity, and may potentially serve as surrogate methods for assessing physical activity.

We found a strong positive correlation between daily step count and the 6MWD (**Fig 14A**), and a moderate positive correlation between daily step count and the 4MGS (**Fig 14B**). These results are in line with the findings of other authors demonstrating physical activity to be strongly related to the exercise capacity measured by the 6MWD on the one hand [183, 186, 187], and moderately related to the walking speed on the other [177, 191].

As it was discussed in section 1.3. 30-second chair stand test was developed for the assessment of lower extremity muscle strength in older people, while the timed up and go test is a reliable and valid method for quantifying mobility and balance in older people [126, 128]. Both tests are rapid and easy to perform, and we found that the 30-second chair stand test was in a moderate positive correlation with the daily step count (**Fig 14C**), and the timed up and go test in a moderate negative correlation (**Fig 14D**). These results contribute to the knowledge in this field, because there have not been any previously published studies investigating the correlation between physical activity and either of these two tests. The only comparable published data are for the sit-to-stand test, which is similar to the 30-second chair stand test with the main difference that the participant repeatedly rises from the chair without support from the hands for a duration of one minute instead of 30-seconds as in the 30-second chair stand test [126, 127]. In the study by van Gestel et al. [192] the number of stands in the sit-to-stand test showed moderate positive correlation with the daily step count in patients

with COPD. On the other hand, Albarrati et al. [193] demonstrated that the timed up and go test was inversely related to the 6MWD and FEV_1 , and directly related to the quality of life assessed by the St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire and to the symptoms severity assessed by the CAT score. However, until now there has not been any data available on the correlation between the timed up and go test and objectively measured physical activity.

FFMI as an indicator of muscle and bone mass is expected to be related to physical performance. There are several studies available that explored the association between FFMI in patients with COPD and their exercise capacity measured by the 6MWD, and they found a positive correlation between them [153, 175]. However, the evidence on relation between FFMI and physical activity in patients with COPD is not so strong, because there is only one published study that investigated this subject and found a weak positive correlation between FFMI and physical activity level [191]. In accordance with this study, the FFMI and daily step count were also weakly correlated in our research (**Fig 14E**).

As it was previously discussed in section 1.4., peripheral muscle dysfunction is present in about one-third of patients with COPD, even in those with mild disease, and has been associated with multiple negative implications, including exercise intolerance, increased health care use, reduced quality of life and increased mortality [129, 130, 145]. We evaluated muscle function in our COPD patients by measuring handgrip strength, and as an alternative to measuring quadriceps strength we used ultrasound imaging of the quadriceps muscle with measurement of the RF_{CSA}. In contrast to some of the published data suggesting a weak to moderate correlation between handgrip strength / quadriceps strength and physical activity [186, 191, 194], we did not find significant correlations between daily step count and handgrip strength or RF_{CSA}, respectively (Table 18). We also explored the association between daily step count and two anthropometric parameters related to the limb muscle mass (CC and AMA), but nor here no significant correlations were found (Table 18). The absence of statistically significant relation between physical activity and previously mentioned parameters of muscle strength/mass (i.e. handgrip strength, RF_{CSA}, CC, AMA) in our research may be explained by the fact that physical activity was expressed as a daily step count and did not take into account the intensity of the activity, which is an important part of the effect of physical activity in building muscle mass and strength.

6.2.5. Association between physical activity, body composition and healthrelated quality of life

For patients with COPD the tendency of adopting a sedentary lifestyle is rising with increasing severity of the lung disease, moreover, physical activity substantially decreases with time across all severity stages of COPD, and this decline is paralleled by a worsening of health status and quality of life. [115, 116, 155]. Esteban et al. [117] have demonstrated that a reduction in time spent engaging in physical activity or maintaining a low level of activity may impair health-related quality of life, whereas an increase in physical activity level over time can improve quality of life parameters. Furthermore, average daily step count and functional capacity have been recognised as independent determinants of a health-related quality of life in patients with COPD [195]. Our results are in accordance with the previously published data: physical activity expressed as a daily step count showed a positive correlation with the quality of life parameters - moderate correlation with the EQ-5D-5L index value (**Fig 15A**), and a weak correlation with the EQ-5D-5L VAS score (**Fig 15B**).

On the contrary, the existing evidence for the relation between the muscle mass depletion and quality of life in COPD is not as straightforward. Namely, in the study by Verhage et al. [196] FFMI reduction did not show correlation with the health status, while in the study by Mostert et al. [197] depletion of FFM irrespective of body weight was associated with the impairment of quality of life. In our study no correlation was found between the FFMI and the health-related quality of life measures (**Table 19**).

6.2.6. Association between physical activity, body composition and anxiety/depression

Based on the HADS score 38% of our study population had some degree of anxiety and 43% presented clinically significant depression. In the previously published studies the prevalence of depression in COPD patients ranged from 24% to 75%, depending on the severity of the pulmonary disease and the method used in the evaluation of psychological status [32, 198]. The existing evidence indicates that depressive COPD patients have worse lung function, greater dyspnoea, poorer quality of life, more exacerbations, and reduced exercise capacity

and physical activity [32, 158]. On the other hand, it has been suggested that increased anxiety in COPD patients was associated with higher levels of physical activity [199].

In our research patients with poor exercise capacity (6MWD \leq 350 m) and those with slow gait speed (4MGS < 0.8 m/s) had significantly higher HADS Depression scores (**Table 7** and **10**). In contrast to the published data, patients with poor physical activity (daily step count \leq 7128 steps/day) did not differ from the normal activity group in the symptomatology of depression (**Table 12**). Equally, the level of anxiety was not different in patients with poor physical performance determined by any of the three methods (i.e. 6MWD, 4MGS, and daily step count) (**Table 7**, **10** and **12**).

In line with these results, there were no significant correlations between daily step count and HADS Anxiety score and HADS Depression score, respectively (**Table 20**). Similarly, no correlations were found between the FFMI and measures of anxiety/depression in our study population (**Table 20**).

Our data confirm that depression and anxiety are common problems in patients with COPD, however, these are complex disorders influenced by many factors, and their association with physical performance was only partially demonstrated in our research.

6.3. Study limitations

Several study limitations need to be addressed. Firstly, physical activity was assessed by measuring steps walked throughout the day and not a distance walked or energy expenditure. Because the step length of a person is related to a body height and legs length, the same distance walked by people of a different height may translate into a different number of steps. However, the same activity monitor that was used in our research has already been validated and proven accurate at measuring physical activity in patients with COPD, and it has been applied in multiple studies, including studies with populations other than COPD patients resulting in nearly 200 peer-reviewed publications [118, 137, 200].

Secondly, for each patient physical activity was assessed during 7 ± 2 consecutive days and the study was conducted from February 2015 to June 2016, which included different seasons. Although according to some previously published data there is a trend of lower activity during

periods of the year with poor weather and lower temperatures, the seasonal variations of physical activity were not taken into account in this research [132, 201].

Finally, the analysis of physical performance and nutritional status was not carried out separately for men and women. Even though the proportions of women in the "poor exercise capacity" and "slow gait speed" groups were higher than in the corresponding "normal" groups, female sex did not show significance in the multivariate analysis. Additionally, no association was found between female sex and poor physical activity, thus differences in the physical performance and accompanying alterations in the nutritional status of the study population cannot be ascribed to the variations in gender distribution.

7. CONCLUSIONS

1) In the population of patients with moderate to very severe COPD physical performance was assessed in three different ways – exercise capacity evaluated by the 6MWD, gait speed measured by the 4MGS test, and objectively measured physical activity expressed as average daily step count. Patients with poor physical performance determined by any of these three methods had deficient nutritional status in terms of reduced MNA scores and several indicators of skeletal muscle mass – lower LMI and FFMI, and smaller CC, MAMC and AMA.

2) Patients with poor exercise capacity (i.e. $6MWD \le 350$ m) and those with slow gait speed (i.e. 4MGS < 0.8 m/s) had significantly lower DEXA parameters of bone tissue - BMC, BMD, and T-score. Patients with poor physical activity (i.e. ≤ 7128 steps/day) also had reduced BMD and T-score, however, this trend did not reach statistical significance (p=0.07).

3) Patients with poor exercise capacity had significantly lower serum albumin and prealbumin concentrations, and patients with poor physical activity had lower prealbumin and vitamin D levels.

4) Vitamin D deficiency (serum vitamin D concentration < 50 nmol/L) was present in 77% of the study population and the mean vitamin D levels for the entire study population as well as in all "poor" and "normal" physical performance groups were constantly in the range of deficiency.

5) Irrespective of which method was used in the assessment of physical performance (6MWD, 4MGS or daily step count), patients with poor and normal physical performance did not differ in the BMI, FMI, fat proportion and fat mass-related anthropometric measurements (e.g. TSF, waist and hip circumference, waist-to-hip ratio). This suggests that the observed nutritional differences between patients at different levels of physical performance are mainly limited to the muscle/bone mass and protein status, and not to the fat tissue.

6) Apart from the aforementioned nutritional differences, patients with poor physical performance were older, had worse lung function (i.e. more severe airflow obstruction manifested as the lower FEV_1 , lung hyperinflation demonstrated by the higher RV and RV/TLC, reduced lung diffusion capacity, more pronounced hypoxemia), higher symptom

burden (i.e. higher CAT score and mMRC dyspnoea level), more frequent exacerbations, and worse health-related quality of life (i.e. lower EQ-5D-5L index value and VAS score).

7) Based on the results of the multivariate analysis, variables that were independently and significantly associated with poor exercise capacity were older age, previous exacerbations, lung hyperinflation, reduced lung diffusion capacity and higher dyspnoea level. Similarly, older age, reduced lung diffusion capacity and higher dyspnoea level were also independently associated with poor physical activity. However, none of the nutritional parameters showed an independent relation to physical performance in our study. This suggests that age and parameters associated with ventilatory limitation (i.e. air trapping, compromised gas exchange and dyspnoea) have a stronger relation to physical performance, and that the body composition alterations in patients with poor physical performance are secondary and influenced by other factors, most likely by the disease itself and by the process of ageing.

8) In our study population only 16% of patients were underweight (BMI <21 kg/m²) while the proportion of overweight (BMI \geq 25, <30 kg/m²) and obese patients (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) was relatively high (24% and 32%, respectively). When compared to the rest of the study population, underweight patients had more severe lung hyperinflation (i.e. higher TLC, RV, and RV/TLC) and reduced lung diffusion capacity (i.e. lower DLCO/VA).

9) Patients in different BMI categories did not show significant differences in the 6MWD,4MGS or daily step count.

10) Regardless of body weight, 37% of female patients and 4% of male patients in our study population were FFM depleted (FFMI <15 kg/m² for women and <16 kg/m² for men).

11) Physical activity expressed as a daily step count showed significant correlations with several parameters of lung function – the correlation was moderate positive in the case of FEV_1 , indicator of airflow limitation; moderate negative in the case of RV/TLC, marker of lung hyperinflation; and weak positive for the DLCO/VA, representing lung diffusion capacity. The strongest negative correlation was found between daily step count and the mMRC dyspnoea level. Exacerbations in the previous year and the CAT score both showed weak negative correlation with daily step count.

12) Several simple and rapid tests of muscle function/mass demonstrated significant correlation with objectively measured physical activity. A strong correlation was found

between daily step count and the 6MWD, and a moderate correlation between daily step count and the 4MGS, the 30-second chair stand test, and the timed up and go test, respectively. Furthermore, the FFMI and daily step count showed a weak correlation.

13) Physical activity showed a positive correlation with the quality of life parameters – moderate correlation with the EQ-5D-5L index value, and a weak correlation with the EQ-5D-5L VAS score.

14) No correlation was found between the FFMI and the health-related quality of life measures.

15) Based on the HADS 38% of our COPD patients had some degree of anxiety and 43% manifested clinically significant depression. Patients with poor exercise capacity and those with slow gait speed had significantly higher HADS Depression scores. However, patients with poor physical activity did not differ from the normal activity group in the psychological status, and consequently no significant correlations were found between physical activity and measures of anxiety/depression.

16) No correlations were observed between the FFMI and measures of anxiety/depression in our study population.

8. ABSTRACT

Physical inactivity and skeletal muscle mass wasting are frequent findings in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). The aim of the study was to compare nutritional status and body composition in COPD patients with poor and normal physical performance, which was assessed in three different ways - exercise capacity evaluated by the 6-minute walk test, gait speed measured by the 4-metre gait speed test and physical activity expressed as average daily step count. In the population of 111 patients with moderate to very severe COPD, those with poor physical performance were older, had worse lung function, higher symptom burden, more frequent exacerbations, worse health-related quality of life, and deficient nutritional status, which manifested dominantly with lower parameters of muscle/bone tissue and serum protein levels. There were no significant differences in the body-mass index and parameters related to fat tissue. In the multivariate analysis the variables that were independently and significantly associated with poor exercise capacity were older age, previous exacerbations, lung hyperinflation, reduced lung diffusion capacity and higher dyspnoea level. Likewise, older age, reduced lung diffusion capacity and dyspnoea level were independently associated with poor physical activity. However, none of the nutritional parameters were independently related to poor physical performance.

Keywords: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; nutritional status; body composition; physical activity; exercise capacity; gait speed; lung function.

Evaluation of nutritional status and physical performance in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Zinka Matković, 2018)

9. SAŽETAK

Tjelesna neaktivnost i gubitak skeletne mišićne mase su česti u bolesnika s kroničnom opstrukcijskom bolešću pluća (KOPB). Cilj istraživanja je bio usporediti nutritivni status i tjelesni sastav u KOPB bolesnika sa smanjenom i normalnom fizičkom sposobnošću koja je procijenjena na tri različita načina – tjelesnom kondicijom na temelju 6-minutnog testa hoda, brzinom hoda mjerenom testom brzine hoda na 4 metra i tjelesnom aktivnošću izraženom prosječnim dnevnim brojem koraka. U populaciji od 111 bolesnika s umjereno teškim do vrlo teškim KOPB-om, bolesnici sa smanjenom fizičkom sposobnošću su bili stariji, imali lošiju plućnu funkciju, izraženije simptome, češće egzacerbacije, slabiju kvalitetu života i lošiji nutritivni status što se u prvom redu manifestiralo nižim vrijednostima parametara mišićnokoštane mase i nižim vrijednostima serumskih proteina. Nije bilo značajne razlike u indeksu tjelesne mase niti u parametrima koji se odnose na masno tkivo. Multivarijantnom analizom je utvrđeno da su starija dob, prethodne egzacerbacije, hiperinflacija pluća, smanjen difuzijski kapacitet pluća i viši stupanj zaduhe nezavisno i statistički značajno povezani sa smanjenom tjelesnom kondicijom. Jednako tako su starija dob, smanjen difuzijski kapacitet pluća i viši stupanj zaduhe bili nezavisno povezani sa smanjenom tjelesnom aktivnošću. Nijedan nutritivni parametar nije pokazao nezavisnu povezanost sa smanjenom fizičkom sposobnošću.

Ključne riječi: kronična opstrukcijska bolest pluća; nutritivni status; tjelesni sastav; tjelesna aktivnost; tjelesna kondicija; brzina hoda; plućna funkcija.

Procjena nutritivnog statusa i fizičke sposobnosti bolesnika s kroničnom opstrukcijskom bolešću pluća (Zinka Matković, 2018.)

10. LIST OF REFERENCES

- 1. American Thoracic Society Foundation. The Global Burden of Lung Disease. 2014. http://foundation.thoracic.org/news/global-burden.php (accessed 7 Jan 2017)
- World Health Organization. The global burden of disease: 2004 update. 2008. http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/2004_report_update/en/ (accessed 07 Jan 2017)
- 3. Adeloye D, Chua S, Lee C, et al. Global and regional estimates of COPD prevalence: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health 2015;5:020415.
- 4. Naghavi M, Wang H, Lozano R, et al., on behalf of the GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and causespecific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 2015;385:117-71.
- Vogelmeier CF, Criner GJ, Martinez FJ, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive lung disease 2017 report: GOLD executive summary. Eur Respir J 2017;49:1700214.
- 6. Kohansal R, Martinez-Camblor P, Agustí A, Buist AS, Mannino DM, Soriano JB. The natural history of chronic airflow obstruction revisited: an analysis of the Framingham offspring cohort. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2009;180:3-10.
- 7. Raad D, Gaddam S, Schunemann HJ, et al. Effects of water-pipe smoking on lung function: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Chest 2011;139:764-74.
- 8. Tan WC, Lo C, Jong A, et al. Marijuana and chronic obstructive lung disease: a populationbased study. CMAJ 2009;180:814-20.
- 9. Yin P, Jiang CQ, Cheng KK, et al. Passive smoking exposure and risk of COPD among adults in China: the Guangzhou Biobank Cohort Study. Lancet 2007;370:751-7.
- Marchetti N, Garshick E, Kinney GL, et al. Association between occupational exposure and lung function, respiratory symptoms, and high-resolution computed tomography imaging in COPDGene. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014;190:756-62.

- 11. Assad NA, Balmes J, Mehta S, Cheema U, Sood A. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease secondary to household air pollution. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2015;36:408-21.
- 12. Stoller JK, Aboussouan LS. Alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency. Lancet 2005;365:2225-36.
- 13. de Marco R, Accordini S, Marcon A, et al. Risk factors for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a European cohort of young adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011;183:891-7.
- 14. Lawlor DA, Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G. Association of birth weight with adult lung function: findings from the British Women's Heart and Health Study and a meta-analysis. Thorax 2005;60:851-8.
- 15. Silva GE, Sherrill DL, Guerra S, Barbee RA. Asthma as a risk factor for COPD in a longitudinal study. Chest 2004;126:59-65.
- 16. Allinson JP, Hardy R, Donaldson GC, Shaheen SO, Kuh D, Wedzicha JA. The presence of chronic mucus hypersecretion across adult life in relation to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease development. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2016;193:662-72.
- 17. Beran D, Zar HJ, Perrin C, Menezes AM, Burney P; Forum of International Respiratory Societies working group collaboration. Burden of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and access to essential medicines in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet Respir Med 2015;3:159-70.
- Drummond MB, Kirk GD. HIV-associated obstructive lung diseases: insights and implications for the clinician. Lancet Respir Med 2014;2:583-92.
- Mercado N, Ito K, Barnes PJ. Accelerated ageing of the lung in COPD: new concepts. Thorax 2015;70:482-9.
- Schirnhofer L, Lamprecht B, Vollmer WM, et al. COPD prevalence in Salzburg, Austria: results from the Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease (BOLD) Study. Chest 2007;131:29-36.
- 21. Hogg JC, Timens W. The pathology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Annu Rev Pathol 2009;4:435-59.
- Barnes PJ. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Clin Chest Med 2014;35:71-86.

- 23. Barnes PJ. Inflammatory mechanisms in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;138:16-27.
- 24. Hogg JC, Chu F, Utokaparch S, et al. The nature of small-airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 2004;350:2645-53.
- 25. Sze MA, Dimitriu PA, Suzuki M, et al. Host response to the lung microbiome in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015;192:438-45.
- 26. Papi A, Bellettato CM, Braccioni F, et al. Infections and airway inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease severe exacerbations. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006;173:1114-21.
- 27. Sakao S, Voelkel NF, Tatsumi K. The vascular bed in COPD: pulmonary hypertension and pulmonary vascular alterations. Eur Respir Rev 2014;23:350-5.
- 28. Miravitlles M, Worth H, Soler Cataluña JJ, et al. Observational study to characterise 24hour COPD symptoms and their relationship with patient-reported outcomes: results from the ASSESS study. Respir Res 2014;15:122.
- 29. Definition and classification of chronic bronchitis for clinical and epidemiological purposes. A report to the medical research council by their committee on the aetiology of chronic bronchitis. Lancet 1965;1:775-9.
- 30. Miravitlles M, Marin A, Monso E, et al. Colour of sputum is a marker for bacterial colonisation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Res 2010;11:58.
- 31. Remels AH, Gosker HR, Langen RC, Schols AM. The mechanisms of cachexia underlying muscle dysfunction in COPD. J Appl Physiol 2013;114:1253-62.
- 32. Martinez Rivera C, Costan Galicia J, Alcázar Navarrete B, et al. Factors associated with depression in COPD: a multicenter study. Lung 2016;194:335-43.
- 33. Miller MR, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, et al. Standardisation of spirometry. Eur Respir J 2005;26:319-38.
- 34. Celli BR, Cote CG, Marin JM, et al. The body-mass index, airflow obstruction, dyspnea, and exercise capacity index in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 2004 4;350:1005-12.

- 35. Fletcher CM. Standardised questionnaire on respiratory symptoms: a statement prepared and approved by the MRC Committee on the Aetiology of Chronic Bronchitis (MRC breathlessness score). BMJ 1960;2:1662.
- 36. Bestall JC, Paul EA, Garrod R, et al. Usefulness of the Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea scale as a measure of disability in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 1999;54:581-6.
- 37. Jones PW, Harding G, Berry P, Wiklund I, Chen WH, Kline Leidy N. Development and first validation of the COPD Assessment Test. Eur Respir J 2009;34:648-54.
- 38. Cazzola M, MacNee W, Martinez FJ, et al., on behalf of the American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society Task Force on outcomes of COPD. Outcomes for COPD pharmacological trials: from lung function to biomarkers. Eur Respir J 2008;31:416-69.
- Burge S, Wedzicha JA. COPD exacerbations: definitions and classifications. Eur Respir J Suppl 2003;41:46s-53s.
- 40. Sethi S. Infectious etiology of acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis. Chest 2000;117:380S-5S.
- 41. Sapey E, Stockley RA. COPD exacerbations 2: aetiology. Thorax 2006;61:250-8.
- 42. MacNee W, Donaldson K. Exacerbations of COPD: environmental mechanisms. Chest 2000;117:3908-7S.
- 43. Jarad NA, Wedzicha JA, Burge PS, Calverley PMA, for the ISOLDE study group. An observational study of inhaled corticosteroid withdrawal is stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Med 1999;93:161-6.
- 44. Wedzicha JA, Agusti A, Donaldson G, Chuecos F, Lamarca R, Garcia Gil E. Effect of aclidinium bromide on exacerbations in patients with moderate-to-severe COPD: a pooled analysis of five phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled studies. COPD 2016;13:669-76.
- 45. Miravitlles M, Ferrer M, Pont A, et al. Effect of exacerbations on quality of life in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a 2 year follow up study. Thorax 2004;59:387-95.

- 46. Soler-Cataluna JJ, Martinez-Garcia MA, Roman Sanchez P, Salcedo E, Navarro M, Ochando R. Severe acute exacerbations and mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 2005;60:925-31.
- 47. Hurst JR, Vestbo J, Anzueto A, et al. Susceptibility to exacerbation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 2010;363:1128-38.
- 48. Margüello MS, Garrastazu R, Ruiz-Nuñez M, et al. Independent effect of prior exacerbation frequency and disease severity on the risk of future exacerbations of COPD: a retrospective cohort study. NPJ Prim Care Respir Med 2016;26:16046.
- 49. Pavord ID, Lettis S, Locantore N, et al. Blood eosinophils and inhaled corticosteroid/longacting β-2 agonist efficacy in COPD. Thorax 2016;71:118-25.
- 50. Ostridge K, Wilkinson TM. Present and future utility of computed tomography scanning in the assessment and management of COPD. Eur Respir J 2016;48:216-28.
- O'Donnell DE, Laveneziana P. Physiology and consequences of lung hyperinflation in COPD. Eur Respir Rev 2006;15:61-7.
- 52. Hardinge M, Annandale J, Bourne S, et al. British Thoracic Society guidelines for home oxygen use in adults. Thorax 2015;70:i1-i43.
- 53. Vaes AW, Garcia-Aymerich J, Marott JL, et al. Changes in physical activity and all-cause mortality in COPD. Eur Respir J 2014;44:1199-209.
- 54. Vestbo J, Hurd SS, Agustí AG, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013;187:347-65.
- 55. Han MK, Agusti A, Calverley PM, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease phenotypes: the future of COPD. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010;182:598-604.
- 56. Miravitles M, Soler-Cataluña JJ, Calle M, et al. Spanish COPD Guidelines (GesEPOC): pharmacological treatment of stable COPD. Spanish Society of Pulmonology and Thoracic Surgery. Arch Bronconeumol 2012;48:247-57.
- 57. Koblizek V, Chlumsky J, Zindr V, et al. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: official diagnosis and treatment guidelines of the Czech Pneumological and Phthisiological

Society; a novel phenotypic approach to COPD with patient-oriented care. Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub 2013;157:189-201.

- 58. American Thoracic Society. Chronic bronchitis, asthma, and pulmonary emphysema: a statement by the Committee on Diagnostic Standards for Nontuberculous Respiratory Diseases. Am Rev Respir Dis 1962;85:762-8.
- 59. Gibson PG, Simpson JL. The overlap syndrome of asthma and COPD: what are its features and how important is it? Thorax 2009;64:728-35.
- 60. Soler-Cataluña JJ, Cosío B, Izquierdo JL, et al. Consensus document on the overlap phenotype COPD-asthma in COPD. Arch Bronconeumol 2012;48:331-7.
- 61. Van Eerd EA, van der Meer RM, van Schayck OC, Kotz D. Smoking cessation for people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;8:CD010744.
- 62. Cazzola M, Molimard M. The scientific rationale for combining long-acting beta2agonists and muscarinic antagonists in COPD. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 2010;23:257-67.
- 63. Montuschi P, Ciabattoni G. Bronchodilating drugs for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: current status and future trends. J Med Chem 2015;58:4131-64.
- 64. Nardini S, Camiciottoli G, Locicero S, et al. COPD: maximization of bronchodilation. Multidiscip Respir Med 2014;9:50.
- 65. Ernst P, Saad N, Suissa S. Inhaled corticosteroids in COPD: the clinical evidence. Eur Respir J 2015;45:525-37.
- 66. Nannini LJ, Lasserson TJ, Poole P. Combined corticosteroid and long-acting beta(2)agonist in one inhaler versus long-acting beta(2)-agonists for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;9:CD006829.
- 67. Wedzicha JA, Miravitlles M, Hurst JR, et al. Management of COPD exacerbations: a European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society guideline. Eur Respir J 2017;49:1600791.
- 68. Walters JA, Tan DJ, White CJ, Gibson PG, Wood-Baker R, Walters EH. Systemic corticosteroids for acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;9:CD001288.

- 69. Barnes PJ. Theophylline. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013;188:901-6.
- 70. Yokoba M, Ichikawa T, Takakura A, et al. Aminophylline increases respiratory muscle activity during hypercapnia in humans. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 2015;30:96-101.
- 71. Wedzicha JA, Calverley PM, Rabe KF. Roflumilast: a review of its use in the treatment of COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2016;11:81-90.
- 72. Miravitlles M, Kruesmann F, Haverstock D, Perroncel R, Choudhri SH, Arvis P. Sputum colour and bacteria in chronic bronchitis exacerbations: a pooled analysis. Eur Respir J 2012;39:1354-60.
- 73. Nouira S, Marghli S, Belghith M, Besbes L, Elatrous S, Abroug F. Once daily oral ofloxacin in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation requiring mechanical ventilation: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2001;358:2020-5.
- 74. Ram FS, Rodriguez-Roisin R, Granados-Navarrete A, Garcia-Aymerich J, Barnes NC. Antibiotics for exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;2:CD004403.
- 75. Albert RK, Connett J, Bailey WC, et al. Azithromycin for prevention of exacerbations of COPD. N Engl J Med 2011;365:689-98.
- 76. Sethi S, Jones PW, Theron MS, et al. Pulsed moxifloxacin for the prevention of exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized controlled trial. Respir Res 2010;11:10.
- 77. Poole P, Chong J, Cates CJ. Mucolytic agents versus placebo for chronic bronchitis or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015;7:CD001287.
- 78. American Thoracic Society; European Respiratory Society. American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: standards for the diagnosis and management of individuals with alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2003;168:818-900.
- 79. Spruit MA, Singh SJ, Garvey C, et al. An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: key concepts and advances in pulmonary rehabilitation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013;188:e13-64.

- 80. Nici L, Donner C, Wouters E, et al. American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement on pulmonary rehabilitation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006;173:1390-413.
- Puhan MA, Gimeno-Santos E, Cates CJ, Troosters T. Pulmonary rehabilitation following exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016;12:CD005305.
- 82. Ferreira IM, Brooks D, White J, Goldstein R. Nutritional supplementation for stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012;12:CD000998.
- 83. Cranston JM, Crockett AJ, Moss JR, Alpers JH. Domiciliary oxygen for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005;4:CD001744.
- 84. Lightowler JV, Wedzicha JA, Elliott MW, Ram FS. Non-invasive positive pressure ventilation to treat respiratory failure resulting from exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2003;326:185.
- 85. Galli JA, Krahnke JS, James Mamary A, Shenoy K, Zhao H, Criner GJ. Home noninvasive ventilation use following acute hypercapnic respiratory failure in COPD. Respir Med 2014;108:722-8.
- 86. Marin JM, Soriano JB, Carrizo SJ, Boldova A, Celli BR. Outcomes in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and obstructive sleep apnea: the overlap syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010;182:325-31.
- 87. Marchetti N, Criner GJ. Surgical approaches to treating emphysema: lung volume reduction surgery, bullectomy, and lung transplantation. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2015;36:592-608.
- 88. Kumar A, Dy R, Singh K, Jeffery Mador M. Early trends in bronchoscopic lung volume reduction: a systematic review and meta-analysis of efficacy parameters. Lung 2017;195:19-28.
- 89. Weill D, Benden C, Corris PA, et al. A consensus document for the selection of lung transplant candidates: 2014—an update from the Pulmonary Transplantation Council of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 2015;34:1-15.

- 90. Chatila WM, Thomashow BM, Minai OA, Criner GJ, Make BJ. Comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2008;5:549-55.
- 91. Cavaillès A, Brinchault-Rabin G, Dixmier A, et al. Comorbidities of COPD. Eur Respir Rev 2013;22:454-75.
- 92. Mapel DW, Hurley JS, Frost FJ, Petersen HV, Picchi MA, Coultas DB. Health care utilization in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. A case-control study in a health maintenance organization. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:2653-8.
- 93. Corlateanu A, Covantev S, Mathioudakis AG, Botnaru V, Siafakas N. Prevalence and burden of comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Investig 2016;54:387-96.
- 94. Marin A, Garcia-Aymerich J, Sauleda J, et al. Effect of bronchial colonisation on airway and systemic inflammation in stable COPD. COPD 2012;9:121-30.
- 95. Nussbaumer-Ochsner Y, Rabe KF. Systemic manifestations of COPD. Chest 2011;139:165-73.
- 96. Schols AM, Ferreira IM, Franssen FM, et al. Nutritional assessment and therapy in COPD: a European Respiratory Society statement. Eur Respir J 2014;44:1504-20.
- 97. Facts for life, 4th ed. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2010, pp. 61-75.
- Soeters PB, Schols AM. Advances in understanding and assessing malnutrition. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2009;12:487-94.
- 99. Filley GF, Beckwitt HJ, Reeves JT, Mitchell RS. Chronic obstructive bronchopulmonary disease. II. Oxygen transport in two clinical types. Am J Med 1968;44:26-38.
- 100. WHO Expert Committee. Physical status: the use and interpretation of anthropometry: report of a WHO Expert Committee. Geneva: World Health Organization; 1995.
- 101. Guo Y, Zhang T, Wang Z, et al. Body mass index and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A dose-response meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e4225.
- 102. Cao C, Wang R, Wang J, Bunjhoo H, Xu Y, Xiong W. Body mass index and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2012;7:e43892.
- 103. Celli BR, Decramer M, Wedzicha JA, et al. ATS/ERS Task Force for COPD Research. An Official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society Statement: Research
questions in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015;191:e4-e27.

- 104. Janssen I. Body composition: quantifying the musculoskeletal system. In: Kohlstadt I, ed. Scientific evidence for musculoskeletal, bariatric, and sports nutrition. Boca Raton, Florida: Taylor & Francis Group; 2006, pp. 3-25.
- 105. Wang ZM, Pierson RN Jr, Heymsfield SB. The five-level model: a new approach to organizing body-composition research. Am J Clin Nutr 1992;56:19-28.
- 106. Heymsfield SB, Shen W, Wang Z, Baumgartner RN, Allison DB, Ross R. Evaluation of total and regional adiposity. In: Bray GA, Bouchard C, eds. Handbook of obesity: etiology and pathophysiology, 2nd ed. Boca Raton, Florida: Taylor & Francis Group; 2003, pp. 33-79.
- 107. Kondrup J, Allison SP, Elia M, Vellas B, Plauth M. ESPEN guidelines for nutrition screening 2002. Clin Nutr 2003;22:415-21.
- 108. Lee SY, Gallagher D. Assessment methods in human body composition. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2008;11:566-72.
- 109. Jenab M, Slimani N, Bictash M, Ferrari P, Bingham SA. Biomarkers in nutritional epidemiology: applications, needs and new horizons. Hum Genet 2009;125:507-25.
- 110. Banh L. Serum proteins as markers of nutrition: what are we treating? Pract Gastroenterol 2006;43:46-64.
- 111. Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. N Engl J Med 1999;340:448-54.
- 112. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep 1985;100:126-31.
- 113. Goldstein RE. Exercise capacity. In: Walker HK, Hall WD, Hurst JW, eds. Clinical methods: the history, physical, and laboratory examinations, 3rd ed. Boston: Butterworths; 1990, pp. 69-71.
- 114. Katz S. Assessing self-maintenance: activities of daily living, mobility, and instrumental activities of daily living. J Am Geriatr Soc 1983;31:721-7.

- 115. Bossenbroek L, de Greef MH, Wempe JB, Krijnen WP, ten Hacken NH. Daily physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review. COPD 2011;8:306-19.
- 116. Donaire-Gonzalez D, Gimeno-Santos E, Balcells E, et al. Physical activity in COPD patients: patterns and bouts. Eur Respir J 2013;42:993-1002.
- 117. Esteban C, Quintana JM, Aburto M, et al. Impact of changes in physical activity on health-related quality of life among patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2010;36:292-300.
- 118. Moy ML, Teylan M, Weston NA, Gagnon DR, Garshick E. Daily step count predicts acute exacerbations in a US cohort with COPD. PLoS One 2013;8:e60400.
- 119. Ramon MA, Esquinas C, Barrecheguren M, et al. Self-reported daily walking time in COPD: relationship with relevant clinical and functional characteristics. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2017;12:1173-81.
- 120. Waschki B, Kirsten A, Holz O, et al. Physical activity is the strongest predictor of allcause mortality in patients with COPD: a prospective cohort study. Chest 2011;140:331-42.
- 121. American Thoracic Society; American College of Chest Physicians. ATS/ACCP
 Statement on cardiopulmonary exercise testing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2003;167:21177.
- 122. Holland AE, Spruit MA, Troosters T, et al. An official European Respiratory Society/American Thoracic Society technical standard: field walking tests in chronic respiratory disease. Eur Respir J 2014;44:1428-46.
- 123. ATS Committee on Proficiency Standards for Clinical Pulmonary Function Laboratories. ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;166:111-7.
- 124. Kon SS, Patel MS, Canavan JL, et al. Reliability and validity of 4-metre gait speed in COPD. Eur Respir J 2013;42:333-40.
- 125. Csuka M, McCarty DJ. Simple method for measurement of lower extremity muscle strength. Am J Med 1985;78:77-81.

- 126. Jones CJ, Rikli RE, Beam WC. A 30-s chair-stand test as a measure of lower body strength in community-residing older adults. Res Q Exerc Sport 1999;70:113-9.
- 127. Ozalevli S, Ozden A, Itil O, Akkoclu A. Comparison of the Sit-to-Stand Test with 6 min walk test in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Med 2007;101:286-93.
- 128. Podsiadlo D, Richardson S. The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 1991;39:142-8.
- 129. Maltais F, Decramer M, Casaburi R, et al. An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: update on limb muscle dysfunction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014;189:e15-62.
- 130. Seymour JM, Spruit MA, Hopkinson NS, et al. The prevalence of quadriceps weakness in COPD and the relationship with disease severity. Eur Respir J 2010;36:81-8.
- 131. Strandkvist VJ, Backman H, Röding J, Stridsman C, Lindberg A. Hand grip strength is associated with forced expiratory volume in 1 second among subjects with COPD: report from a population-based cohort study. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2016;11:2527-34.
- 132. Watz H, Pitta F, Rochester CL, et al. An official European Respiratory Society statement on physical activity in COPD. Eur Respir J 2014;44:1521-37.
- 133. Pitta F, Troosters T, Probst VS, Spruit MA, Decramer M, Gosselink R. Quantifying physical activity in daily life with questionnaires and motion sensors in COPD. Eur Respir J 2006;27:1040-55.
- 134. Williams K, Frei A, Vetsch A, Dobbels F, Puhan MA, Rüdell K. Patient-reported physical activity questionnaires: a systematic review of content and format. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2012;10:28.
- 135. Liao S, Benzo R, Ries AL, Soler X. Physical activity monitoring in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J COPD F 2014;1:155-65.
- 136. Van Remoortel H, Raste Y, Louvaris Z, et al. Validity of six activity monitors in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a comparison with indirect calorimetry. PLoS One 2012;7:e39198.

- 137. Moy ML, Danilack VA, Weston NA, Garshick E. Daily step counts in a US cohort with COPD. Respir Med 2012;106:962-9.
- 138. Westerterp KR, Wouters L, van Marken Lichtenbelt WD. The Maastricht protocol for the measurement of body composition and energy expenditure with labeled water. Obes Res 1995;3:Suppl.1,49-57.
- 139. Bolton CE, Ionescu AA, Shiels KM, et al. Associated loss of fat-free mass and bone mineral density in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2004;170:1286-93.
- 140. Engelen MP, Schols AM, Baken WC, Wesseling GJ, Wouters EF. Nutritional depletion in relation to respiratory and peripheral skeletal muscle function in out-patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 1994;7:1793-7.
- 141. Hopkinson NS, Tennant RC, Dayer MJ, et al. A prospective study of decline in fat free mass and skeletal muscle strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Res 2007;8:25.
- 142. Vestbo J, Prescott E, Almdal T, et al. Body mass, fat-free body mass, and prognosis in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease from a random population sample: findings from the Copenhagen City Heart Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006;173:79-83.
- 143. Schols AM, Broekhuizen R, Weling-Scheepers CA, Wouters EF. Body composition and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:53-9.
- 144. Eisner MD, Iribarren C, Blanc PD, et al. Development of disability in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: beyond lung function. Thorax 2011;66:108-14.
- 145. Swallow EB, Reyes D, Hopkinson NS, et al. Quadriceps strength predicts mortality in patients with moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 2007;62:115-20.
- 146. Eisner MD, Blanc PD, Sidney S, et al. Body composition and functional limitation in COPD. Respir Res 2007;8:7.
- 147. Cebron Lipovec N, Beijers RJ, van den Borst B, Doehner W, Lainscak M, Schols AM. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review. COPD 2016;13:399-406.

- 148. Cecere LM, Littman AJ, Slatore CG, et al. Obesity and COPD: associated symptoms, health-related quality of life, and medication use. COPD 2011;8:275-84.
- 149. Sternfeld B, Ngo L, Satariano WA, Tager IB. Associations of body composition with physical performance and self-reported functional limitation in elderly men and women. Am J Epidemiol 2002;156:110-21.
- 150. Abbatecola AM, Fumagalli A, Spazzafumo L, et al. Body composition markers in older persons with COPD. Age Ageing 2014;43:548-53.
- 151. Emtner M, Hallin R, Arnardottir RH, Janson C. Effect of physical training on fat-free mass in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Ups J Med Sci 2015;120:52-8.
- 152. Van de Bool C, Rutten EP, Franssen FM, Wouters EF, Schols AM. Antagonistic implications of sarcopenia and abdominal obesity on physical performance in COPD. Eur Respir J 2015;46:336-45.
- 153. Luo Y, Zhou L, Li Y, et al. Fat-free mass index for evaluating the nutritional status and disease severity in COPD. Respir Care 2016;61:680-8.
- 154. Tudor-Locke C, Washington TL, Hart TL. Expected values for steps/day in special populations. Prev Med 2009;49:3-11.
- 155. Waschki B, Kirsten AM, Holz O, et al. Disease progression and changes in physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2015;192:295-306.
- 156. Chawla H, Bulathsinghala C, Tejada JP, Wakefield D, ZuWallack R. Physical activity as a predictor of thirty-day hospital readmission after a discharge for a clinical exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2014;11:1203-9.
- 157. Garcia-Rio F, Rojo B, Casitas R, et al. Prognostic value of the objective measurement of daily physical activity in patients with COPD. Chest 2012;142:338-46.
- 158. Miravitlles M, Cantoni J, Naberan K. Factors associated with a low level of physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Lung 2014;192:259-65.

- 159. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40:373-83.
- 160. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1983;67:361-70.
- 161. Van Hout B, Janssen MF, Feng YS, et al. Interim scoring for the EQ-5D-5L: Mapping the EQ-5D-5L to EQ-5D-3L value sets. Value in Health 2012;15:708-15.
- 162. Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Brusasco V, et al. Interpretative strategies for lung function tests. Eur Respir J 2005;26:948-68.
- 163. Wanger J, Clausen JL, Coates A, et al. Standardisation of the measurement of lung volumes. Eur Respir J 2005;26:511-22.
- 164. Bishop CW, Bowen PE, Ritchey SJ. Norms for nutritional assessment of American adults by upper arm anthropometry. Am J Clin Nutr 1981;34:2530-9.
- 165. Han TS, van Leer EM, Seidell JC, Lean ME. Waist circumference as a screening tool for cardiovascular risk factors: evaluation of receiver operating characteristics (ROC). Obes Res 1996;4:533-47.
- 166. Vellas B, Villars H, Abellan G, et al. Overview of the MNA Its history and challenges.J Nutr Health Aging 2006;10:456-63.
- 167. Mathiowetz V, Kashman N, Volland G, Weber K, Dowe M, Rogers S. Grip and pinch strength: normative data for adults. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1985;66:69-74.
- 168. Seymour JM, Ward K, Sidhu PS, et al. Ultrasound measurement of rectus femoris crosssectional area and the relationship with quadriceps strength in COPD. Thorax 2009;64:418-23.
- 169. Karpman C, DePew ZS, LeBrasseur NK, Novotny PJ, Benzo RP. Determinants of gait speed in COPD. Chest 2014;146:104-10.
- 170. Moy ML, Teylan M, Danilack VA, Gagnon DR, Garshick E. An index of daily step count and systemic inflammation predicts clinical outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc 2014;11:149-57.

- 171. Guggenbuhl P. Osteoporosis in males and females: Is there really a difference? Joint Bone Spine 2009;76:595-601.
- 172. Wicherts IS, van Schoor NM, Boeke AJ, et al. Vitamin D status predicts physical performance and its decline in older persons. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92:2058-65.
- 173. Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dietrich T, Orav EJ, et al. Higher 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are associated with better lower-extremity function in both active and inactive persons aged ≥ 60 y. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:752-8.
- 174. Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:1911-30.
- 175. Ischaki E, Papatheodorou G, Gaki E, Papa I, Koulouris N, Loukides S. Body mass and fat-free mass indices in COPD: relation with variables expressing disease severity. Chest 2007;132:164-9.
- 176. Steiner MC, Barton RL, Singh SJ, Morgan MDL. Bedside methods versus dual energy X-ray absorptiometry for body composition measurement in COPD. Eur Respir J 2002:19:626-31.
- 177. DePew ZS, Karpman C, Novotny PJ, Benzo RP. Correlations between gait speed, 6minute walk distance, physical activity, and self-efficacy in patients with severe chronic lung disease. Respir Care 2013;58:2113-9.
- 178. Chittal P, Babu AS, Lavie CJ. Obesity paradox: does fat alter outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease? COPD 2015;12:14-8.
- 179. Cerveri I, Dore R, Corsico A, et al. Assessment of emphysema in COPD: a functional and radiologic study. Chest 2004;125:1714-8.
- 180. Renvall MJ, Friedman P, Ramsdell JW. Predictors of body mass index in patients with moderate to severe emphysema. COPD 2009;6:432-6.
- 181. Lan CC, Su CP, Chou LL, Yang MC, Lim CS, Wu YK. Association of body mass index with exercise cardiopulmonary responses in lung function-matched patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Heart Lung 2012;41:374-81.

- 182. Monteiro F, Camillo CA, Vitorasso R, et al. Obesity and physical activity in the daily life of patients with COPD. Lung 2012;190:403-10.
- 183. Watz H, Waschki B, Meyer T, Magnussen H. Physical activity in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2009;33:262-72.
- 184. Waschki B, Spruit MA, Watz H, et al. Physical activity monitoring in COPD: compliance and associations with clinical characteristics in a multicenter study. Respir Med 2012;106:522-30.
- 185. Garcia-Aymerich J, Serra I, Gómez FP, et al. Physical activity and clinical and functional status in COPD. Chest 2009;136:62-70.
- 186. Pitta F, Troosters T, Spruit MA, Probst VS, Decramer M, Gosselink R. Characteristics of physical activities in daily life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005;171:972-7.
- 187. Garcia-Rio F, Lores V, Mediano O, et al. Daily physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is mainly associated with dynamic hyperinflation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2009;180:506-12.
- 188. Hayata A, Minakata Y, Matsunaga K, Nakanishi M, Yamamoto N. Differences in physical activity according to mMRC grade in patients with COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2016;11:2203-8.
- 189. Alahmari AD, Patel AR, Kowlessar BS, et al. Daily activity during stability and exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. BMC Pulm Med 2014;14:98.
- 190. Katajisto M, Koskela J, Lindqvist A, Kilpeläinen M, Laitinen T. Physical activity in COPD patients decreases short-acting bronchodilator use and the number of exacerbations. Respir Med 2015;109:1320-5.
- 191. Andersson M, Slinde F, Grönberg AM, Svantesson U, Janson C, Emtner M. Physical activity level and its clinical correlates in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a cross-sectional study. Respir Res 2013;14:128.
- 192. van Gestel AJ, Clarenbach CF, Stöwhas AC, et al. Predicting daily physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. PLoS One 2012;7:e48081.

- 193. Albarrati AM, Gale NS, Enright S, Munnery MM, Cockcroft JR, Shale DJ. A simple and rapid test of physical performance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2016;11:1785-91.
- 194. Osthoff AK, Taeymans J, Kool J, Marcar V, van Gestel AJ. Association between peripheral muscle strength and daily physical activity in patients with COPD: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2013;33:351-9.
- 195. Dürr S, Zogg S, Miedinger D, Steveling EH, Maier S, Leuppi JD. Daily physical activity, functional capacity and quality of life in patients with COPD. COPD 2014;11:689-96.
- 196. Verhage TL, Heijdra Y, Molema J, Vercoulen J, Dekhuijzen R. Associations of muscle depletion with health status. Another gender difference in COPD? Clin Nutr 2011;30:332-8.
- 197. Mostert R, Goris A, Weling-Scheepers C, Wouters EF, Schols AM. Tissue depletion and health related quality of life in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Med 2000;94:859-67.
- 198. Miravitlles M, Molina J, Quintano JA, et al. Factors associated with depression and severe depression in patients with COPD. Respir Med 2014;108:1615-25.
- 199. Nguyen HQ, Fan VS, Herting J, et al. Patients with COPD with higher levels of anxiety are more physically active. Chest 2013;144:145-51.
- 200. https://modushealth.com/publications/ (last accessed 25 June 2017)
- 201. Sewell L, Singh SJ, Williams JE, Morgan MD. Seasonal variations affect physical activity and pulmonary rehabilitation outcomes. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2010;30:329-33.

11. CURRICULUM VITAE

Zinka Matković was born on December 26, 1978 in Varaždin, Croatia. She studied medicine at the University of Zagreb, School of Medicine 1997-2003, and after obtaining a MD degree in 2003 she interned at the General Hospital Varaždin. In 2004 she worked as a scientific assistant at the University Hospital for Infectious Diseases "Dr. Fran Mihaljević", Zagreb, and in the same year she enrolled into the postgraduate study "Biomedicine and Health Sciences" at the University of Zagreb, School of Medicine. Since 2005 she has been a staff physician at the Dubrava University Hospital, Zagreb, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Pulmonary Medicine, where she completed residency in internal medicine (2005-2009) and subspecialisation in respiratory medicine (2011-2013). She has participated as a subinvestigator in several asthma and COPD clinical trials. As a recipient of an ERS/SEPAR (European Respiratory Society / Spanish Society of Pneumology and Thoracic Surgery) fellowship in 2010-2011 she joined the research group at the Hospital Clinic Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain to collaborate in the COPD line of research under the supervision of Dr. Marc Miravitlles. In 2013 she obtained the European diploma in adult respiratory medicine after passing the HERMES (Harmonised Education in Respiratory Medicine for European Specialists) examination. Her publications are listed below.

11.1. List of publications by Zinka Matković

Scientific and professional papers:

- 1. Matković Z. Attention deficit / hyperactivity disorder. Acta Med 2003;29:47-56.
- Baršić B, Krajinović V, Matković Z. Catheter-associated urinary tract infections. Medix 2004;53:31-4.
- Matkovic Z, Zivkovic V, Korica M, Plavec D, Pecanic S, Tudoric N. Efficacy and safety of Astragalus membranaceus in the treatment of patients with seasonal allergic rhinitis. Phytother Res 2010;24:175-81.
- 4. Ljubičić D, Matković Z, Piskač-Živković N, Tudorić N. Churg-Strauss syndrome with myopericardial involvement. Acta Clin Croat 2010;49:353-8.
- Matković Z, Piskač N, Ljubičić D, Tudorić N. The treatment of asthma exacerbations in adults. Lijec Vjesn 2010;132:168-73.
- Tudorić N, Ljubičić Đ, Matković Z. Lyophilized bacterial extract OM 85-BV in the treatment of patients with chronic obstructive lung disease. Infektološki glasnik 2011;31:1,65-9.
- Matković Z, Piskač-Živković N. Acute asthma management in emergency room. Medicus 2011;20:157-62.
- Ljubičić Đ, Matković Z, Piskač-Živković N, Tudorić N. The role of anticholinergics in asthma treatment. Medicus 2011;20:215-9.
- 9. Matkovic Z, Huerta A, Soler N, et al. Predictors of adverse outcome in patients hospitalised for exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respiration 2012;84:17-26.
- 10. Matkovic Z, Miravitlles M. Chronic bronchial infection in COPD. Is there an infective phenotype? Respir Med 2013;107:10-22.
- 11. Matkovic Z, Tudoric N, Miravitlles M. Impact of chronic bronchial infection on the lungs and beyond. Eur Respir Monogr 2013;60:46-57.
- Barrecheguren M, Matkovic Z, Miravitlles M. Infección bronquial crónica en pacientes con EPOC. Monogr Arch Bronconeumol 2014;1:77-85.
- Aliberti S, Reyes LF, Faverio P, et al. Global initiative for meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus pneumonia (GLIMP): an international, observational cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 2016;16:1364-76.

 Matkovic Z, Cvetko D, Rahelic D, et al. Nutritional status of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in relation to their physical performance. COPD 2017;14: 626-34.

Chapter in a book:

 Matkovic Z, Miravitlles M. Acute exacerbations of chronic bronchitis and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. In: Blasi F, Dimopoulos G, eds. Textbook of Respiratory and Critical Care Infections. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers; 2014: 86-101.

Abstracts for conferences:

- Matkovic Z, Pecanic S, Plavec D, Tudoric N. Efficacy and safety of HMC with Astragalus membranaceus (AM) in the treatment of seasonal allergic rhinitis (SAR). XXVII Congress of the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology, 2008.
- Matkovic Z, Piskac-Zivkovic N, Tudoric N. Switch from intravenous to oral antibiotic therapy in hospitalized patients with non-severe community acquired pneumonia. European Respiratory Society Annual Congress, 2010.
- 3. Matkovic Z, Miravitlles M, Soler N, et al. Predictors of poor outcome in severe hospitalised COPD exacerbations. European Respiratory Society Annual Congress, 2011.
- Matkovic Z. Impact of chronic bronchial infection in COPD. 46. Annual Meeting of Croatian Pulmonologists, 2013.
- Matkovic Z, Cvetko D, Rahelic D, et al. Evaluation of nutritional status, disease severity and anxiety/depression in COPD patients with different exercise capacity. European Respiratory Society Annual Congress, 2016.
- Matkovic Z, Cvetko D, Rahelic D, et al. Physical activity in patients with COPD and its association with disease severity, quality of life and anxiety/depression. Submitted for the European Respiratory Society Annual Congress, 2018.